The Constitution of Entrepreneurial Subjects: The Alignment of Narcotics Anonymous and Neoliberalism

Tara Lyons

A Thesis

in

The Department

of

Sociology and Anthropology

Presented in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements
For the degree of Master of Arts at
Concordia University
Montréal, Québec, Canada

January 2005

© Tara Lyons, 2005



Library and Archives Canada

chives Canada Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada 395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque et

Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-494-04334-2 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-494-04334-2

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



ABSTRACT

The Constitution of Entrepreneurial Subjects:
The Alignment of Narcotics Anonymous and Neoliberalism

Tara Lyons

Narcotics Anonymous (NA) is the most widely used and accepted drug treatment program in North America. Despite its popularity, there is little research and literature on this twelve-step recovery program. In this thesis I argue that NA is aligned with neoliberal political rationalities, which are involved in promoting specific forms of individual responsibility and self-government in the construction of 'addict' subjectivities. Specifically, I argue that NA is a technology of the self that requires 'addicts' to transform their selves, through techniques of the self, into 'recovering addicts' in order to achieve recovery. These arguments are elaborated upon through a discourse analysis of the Narcotics Anonymous Basic Text and a governmentality theoretical framework.

Specifically, I use Foucault's modes of objectification to explore four ways by which people in NA are turned into subjects (scientific objectification, dividing practices, unifying practices and self-objectification). I highlight the two types of 'addict' subjectivities found in NA; the 'addict' and the 'recovering addict'. Using the examples of abstinence and confession, I demonstrate how NA instructs individuals to engage in techniques of the self in order to govern their selves according to the Twelve Steps of NA. I also discuss the centrality of the concept of freedom in this transformation and in NA in general.

DEDICATION

To Marcella McKenna who helped me find the courage to begin this journey.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many voices and experiences contributed to this project, most of which will remain unnamed, yet there are those whose support has made this project possible. I could not have asked for a better supervisor than Valérie de Courville Nicol. Thank you for your amazing support, patience, and dare I say 'expertise'. Not only are you brilliant, you are also a beautiful person. Thanks for accompanying me on this rollercoaster. Lori Beaman, thanks for your enthusiasm from the very beginning and for allowing me the space to keep changing my mind. Jessica Gallant, you are my rock who has kept me grounded throughout this experience. Thank you for your unending encouraging words and laughter. Bill Reimer, this experience would not have been the same without your kindness, understanding, and stories. Sarah Rayfield, thanks for the early morning phone calls and theoretical discussions over tea. Jody Staveley, thank you for the reminders to breathe and thanks to Anouk Bélanger for agreeing to be my external committee member.

Diane and Tim Lyons, mom and dad, thank you for your continual support and encouragement. Thanks to my brother Steven, who remains an inspiration for this project.

And Julie Allard, mon amour, thanks for your patience and support, especially during the most difficult moments of this project.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Chapter One	7
History of Alcoholics Anonymous	7
The Oxford Group	9
History of Narcotics Anonymous	11
North American Context	13
Neoliberalism	14
The Emergence of Neoliberalism?	17
The Relationship Between Neoliberalism and NA	18
Self-Help Movement	20
Chapter Two	26
Theoretical Framework	
Truth	26
Power and Freedom	28
Government	29
Subjectivity	31
Universal Subject	32
Risk	34
Methodology	37
Chapter Three	41
Scientific Objectification	42
Addiction as a Disease	43

'Addict' Subjects	44
Implications of Scientific Objectification	46
Dividing Practices	47
Implications of Dividing Practices	51
Unifying Practices	53
Implications of Unifying Practices	56
Self-Objectification	57
Conclusion	58
Chapter Four	62
Personal Entrepreneurship	63
Individual Responsibility	65
Freedom	69
Abstinence as a Technique of the Self	73
Relapse	74
Confession as a Technique of the Self	78
Conclusion	80
Chapter Five	83
A Final Scenario	87
Bibliography	89
Appendix A	99
Appendix B	100
Appendix C	102
Appendix D	102

Introduction

He should not be bragging about taking heroin. [Colin] Farrell is a role model for children. If he thinks it is so cool he should go to a Narcotics Anonymous meeting and see the harsh reality (Baldassarre, 2004).

Narcotics Anonymous offers addicts a program of recovery that is more than just a life without drugs. Not only is this a way of life better than the hell we lived, it is better than any life that we have ever known (NA Basic Text, 1988: 103).

The pervasiveness of Alcoholics Anonymous (AA) and Narcotics Anonymous (NA) in our society is often overlooked and tacitly accepted. Abstinence from all substances and participation in twelve-step programs remain seen as the only solutions in dealing with drug and alcohol use, despite high failure rates (Peele, 1989; Davis & Anderson, 1983). In academic literature it is difficult to find investigations into the NA program of recovery, despite the presence of a body of literature that discusses the socially constructed character of drug use and addiction (Butters & Erickson, 2000; Humphries, 1999; Alexander, 1990).

This project began with a question stemming from these observations: How, and why, does NA remain the dominant drug treatment program in North America? This is a huge question without a straightforward, simple answer. Consequently, this question led to more questions, which became the research questions for this thesis: What is the relationship between NA and neoliberalism? How are 'addict' identities constituted in NA? and How is the notion of freedom conceptualized and employed in NA?

These questions led into a Foucauldian inspired, governmentality analysis of the constitution of subjects in NA. The central arguments of this thesis are: 1) NA is aligned with neoliberal political rationalities, 2) Neoliberal political rationalities are involved in promoting specific

forms of individual responsibility and self-government in the construction of 'addict' subjectivities, and 3) NA is a technology of the self that requires 'addicts' to transform their selves¹, through techniques of the self it institutes, into 'recovering addicts' in order to achieve recovery.

What follows is a story of how NA is aligned with the neoliberal goals of personal entrepreneurship and individual responsibility, which require the constitution of specific subjects: subjects who engage in techniques of the self. I argue that there is an affinity between NA and the socio-cultural² goals of personal entrepreneurship, individual responsibility, and self-government.³ Before I address NA specifically, I want to present a current example that provides a snapshot of the relationship between NA and our culture's underlying neoliberal political rationalities.

In the media we see Courtney Love arrested and criminally charged for having opiates and cocaine in her blood.⁴ Due to this arrest her child is removed from her custody (Kaufman, 2003). Generally, she is talked about as irresponsible, immoral and as engaging in 'high-risk' behaviour. She is ordered into eighteen months of drug rehabilitation and put on probation.⁵ This rehabilitation is most likely twelve-step based and complete abstinence will be required of her. In fact, rigid abstinence is already imposed upon Courtney Love by the criminal court.

¹I am using the terms 'one's self' and 'their selves' instead of oneself and themselves to emphasize the centrality of the self in subjectivation. By using these terms I am also highlighting individuals participation in their subjection through modes of objectification..

² The context of this work is North America, not solely Canada or the United States.

³ These values are also present in the state, but exist outside of the state. It is not my goal to examine these two spheres. For a discussion of the role of the state in governmentality literature see Rose and Miller (1992).

⁴ 'Courtney Love Pleads Guilty, Going to Rehab.' <u>CTV.ca</u>. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web May, 27,

^{*}Courtney Love Pleads Guilty, Going to Rehab.' <u>CTV.ca</u>. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web May, 27 2004.

⁵ 'Love to Spend 18 Months in Rehab.' <u>BBC News World</u>. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web August 2, 2004.

According to the court order, she is legally banned from consuming alcohol or any substances (Vineyard, 2004). If she is found with the prescription medications *hydrocodone* or *oxycodone* she is eligible for a prison term of nearly four years.⁶ Not only is she legally banned from consuming specific substances, it is also illegal for her to be anywhere that serves alcohol.⁷

In her rehabilitation program, Courtney Love will be required to participate in twelve-step groups and admit that she is an 'alcoholic' and/or 'addict'. She will be required to abstain from all substances, attend twelve-step meetings, and work on herself emotionally and spiritually through the direction of the Twelve Steps. She will be expected to act in an entrepreneurial manner by managing and assuming the risks of herself and her behaviour. She will be taught that she alone is responsible for herself, her life, and her 'recovery'. Despite being sentenced to a rehabilitation program, it will be entirely up to her to initiate, participate, and work on herself to achieve her recovery. She will be taught that working on herself and maintaining abstinence are life-long endeavours. In short, she will be required to act according to the neoliberal goals of personal entrepreneurship and individual responsibility.

It appears that Courtney Love has begun her self-transformation; she is quoted as saying "I have to stop drinking. That's funny, I think I can do it". To accomplish this transformation,

⁶ 'Love to Spend 18 Months in Rehab.' <u>BBC News World</u>. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web August 2, 2004.

⁷ 'Love to Spend 18 Months in Rehab.' <u>BBC News World</u>. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web August 2, 2004.

⁸ 'Love to Spend 18 Months in Rehab.' <u>BBC News World</u>. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web August 2, 2004.

she will be required to engage in specific techniques of the self: confession and abstinence. If she is found to have substances in her possession a jail term of nearly four years awaits her.

If the courts decide that she has 'failed' her rehabilitation program she may have to serve a minimum of ninety days in jail.

Such failure is perceived as her choosing to live irresponsibly and immorally, whereas if she is successful in her rehabilitation program and transforms herself into a 'recovering addict' she will regain custody of her daughter and be perceived as responsible and free.

The treatment of Courtney Love is an example of the pervasiveness of neoliberal political rationalities in North American discourses and practices of drug use and treatment. She is required to transform herself (via techniques of the self learned in the drug rehabilitation program) from an irresponsible subject into a subject who acts responsibly and who desires to 'recover'. In this process of transformation Courtney Love is fulfilling the neoliberal goals of personal entrepreneurship and individual responsibility.

In order to explore how these neoliberal goals of personal entrepreneurship and individual responsibility are aligned with NA, I conduct a discourse analysis of the *Narcotics*Anonymous Basic Text. This Text is part of everyday practice in NA; the readings in the meetings come from this Text, people in NA are encouraged to work with this Text, and people in treatment centres are required to engage with this Text. The objective of this project is to explore how the discourses of NA found in the NA Basic Text contribute to the

⁹ 'Love to Spend 18 Months in Rehab.' <u>BBC News World</u>. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web August 2, 2004.

¹⁰ 'Love Pleads Guilty, Going to Rehab.' CTV.ca. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web May, 27, 2004.

formation of specific subjects and specific forms of government in the context of neoliberal culture.

Five chapters comprise this thesis. In the first chapter I outline the history of NA, including a history of its foundation in AA and the Oxford Group. I introduce and define neoliberalism, political rationalities, and the self-help movement to contextualize the emergence of NA. Following Nikolas Rose, I argue that the 1960's saw new methods of government, new conceptions of subjects, and a radicalization of certain liberal political rationalities; those of personal entrepreneurship and individual responsibility.

In Chapter Two I present the theoretical framework and methodology of this project. I introduce and define the central concepts of this work: truth, power, freedom, government, subjectivity and risk. I define my interpretation of discourse and discourse analysis, which are based on the works of Michel Foucault. I also explain the relevance of using the *NA Basic Text* as the object of analysis.

In Chapter Three I explore the discourses of addiction in the *NA Basic Text* as well as the constitution of subjects in NA using Foucault's modes of objectification. I argue that NA is embedded in assumptions of addiction as a disease and is, therefore, a part of the shift to the disease model of addiction. I outline four ways by which people in NA are turned into subjects (scientific objectification, dividing practices, unifying practices and self-objectification) and the implications of these practices. I also highlight the two types of 'addict' subjectivities found in NA; the 'addict' and the 'recovering addict'.

The central argument of Chapter Four is that the NA program of recovery is a technology of self. I demonstrate how the transformation of one's self from an 'addict' into a 'recovering addict' is the goal of NA. I argue that NA is infused with neoliberal political rationalities and instructs individuals to engage in techniques of the self in order to govern their selves according to the Twelve Steps of NA. The examples of abstinence and confession as techniques of the self in NA are used to support my arguments. I also discuss the centrality of the concept of freedom in this transformation and in NA in general. In the concluding chapter I explain how this project has changed over time, my intentions, and I suggest directions for future research.

Chapter One:

The Historical, Social and Political Context of the Emergence Of Narcotics Anonymous

Many books have been written about the nature of addiction. This book primarily concerns itself with the nature of recovery. If you are an addict and have found this book, please give yourself a break and read it! (NA Basic Text, 1988: 1).

NA is a twelve-step based program of recovery that is derived from the twelve-step group AA. In order to explore the discourses of addiction in NA and their implications, it is necessary to contextualize the twelve-step recovery program. Thus, in the following section, I provide a brief history of AA as well as a history of the formation of NA and its *NA Basic Text*. I begin with the history of AA and its Christian roots in the Oxford Group, followed by the history of NA. In the second part of this chapter, I outline the 1960's political and social context of NA, specifically the emergence neoliberalism and the self-help and recovery movements.

History of Alcoholics Anonymous

It was in the years immediately following the end of prohibition¹¹ that AA was formed. AA is said to have its beginnings with Bill Wilson and Dr. Bob, who met in Akron, Ohio in 1935. Prior to this meeting Bill was diagnosed with having 'hopeless alcoholism' and was part of the Oxford Group (Gellman, 1964). The two men decided that they wanted to help alcoholics and started developing a small group of men in Akron. Their goal was to spread their movement beyond Akron to New York, where the second group was formed.

¹¹ In Canada there was not complete prohibition, like in the United States, although certain provinces, such as those in the Maritimes enacted prohibition laws (Warsh, 1993). For more on Canada's prohibition see Butters and Erickson (2000).

In order to gain new members and to keep their philosophies from being misrepresented, they decided to publish a book on AA. It was Bill Wilson who wrote the book and the Twelve Steps of AA¹² (Gellman, 1964). The book, Alcoholics Anonymous, was published in 1939 and gave AA its name. The second edition of this text was published in 1955 and 1976 saw the third edition. These editions brought changes to the personal stories. Specifically, they added more stories "to represent the current membership of Alcoholics Anonymous more accurately, and thereby to reach more alcoholics" (Alcoholics Anonymous, 1976: xii). The first section of Alcoholics Anonymous has been left unchanged in all three editions "[b]ecause this book has become the basic text for our Society and has helped such large numbers of alcoholic men and women to recovery" (Alcoholics Anonymous, 1976: xi).

It took until the 1950's for AA to gain more than one hundred members and to establish itself as a stable organization. The publication of Alcoholics Anonymous, publicity in magazines and support from John D. Rockefeller Jr. aided in increasing membership and awareness of AA. 13 Yet, the challenge of how to maintain increasing number of groups and members continued. In response to this challenge the Twelve Traditions of AA14 were adopted and the General Service Board of AA was developed in order to assure the future of AA. 15 This organizational structure of AA remains today.

¹² See Appendix A for a complete list of the Twelve Steps of Alcoholics Anonymous.

^{13 &#}x27;Historical Data: The Birth of A.A. and its growth in U.S/Canada.' Alcoholics Anonymous. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web January 26, 2004. http://www.alcoholics- anonymous.org/default/en about aa sub.cfm?subpageid=27&pageid=24>

¹⁴ See Appendix B for a complete list of the Twelve Traditions of Alcoholics Anonymous.

^{15 &#}x27;Structure of A.A. General Services in U.S/Canada.' Alcoholics Anonymous. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web January 26, 2004. http://www.alcoholics- anonymous.org/default/en_about_aa_sub.cfm?subpageid=16&pageid=24>

The Oxford Group

AA's principles, philosophies and concepts were influenced by the Oxford Group, of which Bill was a member before forming AA (Gellman, 1964). The commonalities between the two groups need to be highlighted in order to understand the historical, political, and social contexts of AA.

The Oxford Group was founded by a Christian, Lutheran missionary, Rev. Frank N.D. Buchman (Clark, 1951). The group is defined as "a group of people who, from every rank, profession, and trade, in many countries, have surrendered their lives to God and who are endeavouring to lead a spiritual quality of life" (The Layman with a Notebook, 1936: 6). The goal of this group was "to bring those outside back into their folds and to re-awaken those within to their responsibilities as Christians" (The Layman with a Notebook, 1936: 6). The group centred on four absolutes: absolute purity, absolute honesty, absolute unselfishness, and absolute love (Gellman, 1964).

Many of the Oxford Group's philosophies and principles are seen in both AA and NA. For example, all three organizations regard honesty as a key principle and focus upon the sharing of one's sins and past deeds with others in the same group. 'Sharing' in the Oxford Group means one member confessing their sins to another member as well as "the exchange of guidance and other experiences" (Clark, 1951: 35). This sharing of experiences with other members is imitated in NA and AA and is central to the twelve-step programs. This concept and practice of confession will be elaborated upon in Chapter Four.

Surrender is also a common theme amongst the groups. Surrender in the Oxford Group is defined as "our complete severance from our old self and an endeavouring to live by God's Guidance as one with Christ." (The Layman with a Notebook, 1936: 27). Members of AA and NA are taught that the surrender of their will to their higher power is fundamental in order to experience recovery: "Complete surrender is the key to recovery, and total abstinence is the only thing that has ever worked for us. In our experience, no addict who has completely surrendered to this program has ever failed to find recovery" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 87). Further, Step Eight and Nine in AA and NA, which require making 'amends' to all people they have harmed, are found in the Oxford Group's principles: "Restitution is righting to the best of our present ability wrongs we have committed in the past" (The Layman with a Notebook, 1936: 34).

The importance of prayer and meditation as ways to connect to god and god's will (Step Eleven in AA and NA) also originates with the Oxford Group. As does the concept of self-will: "It is that little piece of self-will we keep...which prevents us from receiving the infinite and complete benefits and grace of guidance" (The Layman with a Notebook, 1936: 43). The Oxford Group states that "self-will is the hardest thing in existence to surrender to God", but "discipline over our self-will...comes with practice" (The Layman with a Notebook, 1936: 43-44). This concept of self-will as a force which is in opposition to god's will, as well as the idea of controlling one's self-will and living by god's will, is central within NA: "Self-will still leads us to make decisions based on manipulation, ego, lust or false pride" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 77); "By working the steps, we come to accept a Higher Power's will" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 16).

Despite their original close relationship, the founders of AA separated their organization from the Oxford Group in 1937 (Gellman, 1964). This centred around two aspects: anonymity and who they wanted to help. The Oxford Group did not keep the identity of its members anonymous and the AA founders felt it was vital to keep the identity of its members confidential because of the social stigma associated with alcoholism. Second, the founders of AA wanted to help only alcoholics. They were not attempting to bring salvation upon the world like the Oxford Group (Gellman, 1964). Consequently, a split between the two groups occurred, yet the foundations of AA remain laid within the Christian traditions of the Oxford Group.

In the foreword to the second edition of *Alcoholics Anonymous*, Bill Wilson states that "[t]hough he could not accept all the tenets of the Oxford Groups, he was convinced of the need for moral inventory, confession of personality defects, restitution to those harmed, helpfulness to others, and the necessity of belief in and dependence upon God" (Alcoholics Anonymous, 1976: xvi). Therefore, the fundamental principles and concepts of AA, and later NA, originate within the Christian, missionary tradition of the Oxford Group. 16

History of Narcotics Anonymous

The NA program of recovery is based solely on the Twelve Steps of AA, with minor changes like substituting 'alcohol' for 'drugs' in step one. The *Text* states that they [NA]:

follow the same path [as AA] with a single exception; our identification as addicts is all-inclusive with respect to any mood-changing, mind-altering substance.

¹⁶ For more on the relationship between Protestantism and Alcoholics Anonymous see Valverde (1998).

Alcoholism is too limited a term for us; our problem is not a specific substance, it is a disease called addiction (NA Basic Text, 1988: xv).

The first meeting of NA was held in July 1953 in Southern California (NA Basic Text, 1988: xi). To increase membership, literature on NA was published. The first of these publications, in 1962, was a pamphlet called *Narcotics Anonymous* (also known as *The White Book*) (NA Basic Text, 1988: xi). There was still a call for a fuller, larger text, which resulted in the formation of a literature committee who gathered information and writings from NA groups and individuals participating in NA (NA Basic Text, 1988: xii). The first edition of the *NA Basic Text* was published in 1983 and contributed to the expansion of the NA program to various countries. There are currently five editions of the *NA Basic Text* and each edition has stemmed from requests from individuals and/or groups participating in NA. For example, the third edition stems from a World Service Conference in 1986 where changes to the text include "changing Recovered to Recovering, changing specific drug names to just drugs and changing types of using to just using". These changes emphasize that one never fully recovers from addiction and that regardless of the type and amount of substances used, all 'addicts' are the same. According to NA, 'addicts' remain in a constant state of recoverying from their disease of addiction.

. .

¹⁷ 'Information about NA.' <u>Narcotics Anonymous</u>. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web January 28, 2004. http://www.na.org/basic.htm#top

¹⁸"NA Basic Text History (short)." Accessed from the World Wide Web January 24, 2004.

http://www.geocities.com/wildbill1979/shorthistory.html

¹⁹ Like AA, NA is only concerned with people who have the disease of addiction—'addicts' cannot control their use of substances. They are not concerned with people who are not 'addicts' nor the general population's use of substances.

The Twelve Steps of NA require individuals to admit that they are powerless over their addiction and that their "lives had become unmanageable" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 19). It is then necessary to hand over one's will and life to one's Higher Power with Steps Two and Three. Steps Four to Seven require self-inventories, while Steps Eight and Nine require one to make amends for one's past wrongs. Steps Ten to Twelve focus on developing and maintaining one's relationship to one's Higher Power and to one's self. These steps are to be practiced daily and repeated throughout one's life. ²⁰

Neoliberalism

The prohibition of alcohol contributed to more drugs being used, with a larger market for drugs opening in North America in the 1960's (Stares, 1996). The 1960's counterculture included experimentation with new and increasingly available drugs. This period of time also saw increases in the number of drug treatments developed for men (i.e., detoxification) (Kandall, 1996). At the same time, new forms of psychoanalysis were being developed that required individuals to actively participate in their treatment (Rose, 1989). These political, economic and social shifts of the 1960's are important in contextualizing the formation of NA and the writing of its *White Book* and the *NA Basic Text*. I will focus on the shift to neoliberalism and the growth of the self-help movement to situate the development of NA in social, historical and political contexts.

Neoliberalism is a broad term with varying definitions. Some define neoliberalism as an economic philosophy (Navarro, 2002), whereas others define it as a political, social and

²⁰ See Appendix C for a complete list of the Twelve Steps of Narcotics Anonymous and Appendix D for the Twelve Traditions of Narcotics Anonymous.

economic philosophy that arose as a response to challenges posed to the welfare state (MacGregor, 1999). Although governmentality approaches incorporate economic, political, and social contexts in the definitions, the focus is not on neoliberalism as a political or economic philosophy, but as 'rationality of rule' (Rose, 1993). Neoliberalism is not a tangible policy, but a political rationality.

Rose and Miller (1992) highlight characteristics of political rationalities: they are infused with values (i.e., freedom), they express an understanding of who is to be governed (i.e., government of communities and/or individuals), and they come to be understood, articulated, intelligible, and operated through discourses. Specifically, they define political rationalities as:

the changing discursive fields within which the exercise of power is conceptualised, the moral justification for particular ways of exercising power by diverse authorities, notions of the appropriate forms, objects and limits of politics, and conceptions of the proper distribution of such tasks among secular, spiritual, military and familial sectors (Rose & Miller, 1992: 175).

In sum, political rationalities change over time and contexts and underlie forms of rule and government. Thus, neoliberalism "should be seen as a re-organization of political rationalities that brings them into a kind of alignment with contemporary technologies of government" (Rose & Miller, 1992: 199).

Following this governmentality approach, which will be introduced more thoroughly in the following chapter, the focus in this work is on neoliberalism as a political rationality and on how this rationality is aligned with specific strategies of government. First, it is essential to give a more comprehensive definition of neoliberalism, and its relationship with liberalism.

With liberalism²¹ we saw a shift to new methods of government, new conceptions of authority and expertise, and new conceptions of subjects. Who should be ruled and how this rule is carried out became central (Rose, 1993). Liberal government is dependent upon subjects who are constituted as free and self-governing, and on the establishment of expertise (Rose, 1993). Neoliberalism shares these characteristics since it is an extension of liberalism, yet there are important differences between the two political rationalities.

Paul Treanor (2004) argues that a central difference between neoliberalism and liberalism is the separation of the principles of the market from actual market production under neoliberalism. There is an overall expansion of the market through the creation of new transactions (which are done quicker), new markets, and sub-markets (Treanor, 2004; MacGregor, 1999). The goals of neoliberalism are the expansion of the market and the market becoming understood "as an ethic in itself, capable of acting as a guide for all human action, and substituting for all previously existing ethical beliefs" (Treanor, 2004: 15). Thus, the neoliberal shift includes a shift to emphasizing markets, where the market and its values are extended to the public and are no longer restricted to the private sector (MacGregor, 1999; Rose & Miller, 1992). In other words, "active entrepreneurship is to replace the passivity and dependency of responsible solidarity as individuals are encouraged to strive to optimize their own quality of life and that of their families" (Rose & Miller, 1992: 198).

²¹ There is a relationship between liberalism and Protestantism that, due to matters of space, will not be examined in this work. For more on this relationship see Reynolds and Durhan (1996).

Neoliberalism radicalizes particular liberal goals; those of personal entrepreneurship and individual responsibility (Treanor, 2004; MacGregor, 1999; Petersen 1997; Rose, 1996b; Rose & Miller, 1992). This radicalization of personal entrepreneurship and individual responsibility is required for the neoliberal goals of market expansion. This is seen in that neoliberal government holds individuals responsible for their lives, behaviours, and decisions. Individuals are perceived "as subjects of responsibility, autonomy and choice" (Rose, 1996a:

54). Therefore, with neoliberalism we have seen the emergence of a

political rationality that reactivates liberal principles: an emphasis on markets as regulators of economic activity; skepticism over the capacities of governments to properly govern; and the replacement of 'welfare dependency' by active entrepreneurship (Petersen, 1997: 193).

Neoliberal political rationalities contribute to a decrease in state government and an increase in individual government through "techniques of government that create a distance between the decisions of formal political institutions and other social actors" (Rose, 1996a: 53). Consequently, a shift in attitudes, philosophies, values, and government occurred with neoliberalism. This shift "is less the birth of a new form of state than a new mode of government of the economic, social and personal lives of citizens" (Rose & Miller, 1992: 191). For example, individuals became understood as responsible for their poverty, unlike under the welfare state where risks were shared among populations (MacGregor, 1999).

Neoliberal "strategies of rule ask whether it is possible to govern without governing society, that is to say, to govern through the regulated and accountable choices of autonomous agents" (Rose, 1996a: 61). In the words of Rose, neoliberalism

constitutes a mentality of government, a conception of how authorities should use their powers in order to improve national well-being, the ends they should seek, the evils they should avoid, the means they should use, and, crucially, the nature of the persons upon whom they must act" (Rose, 1996b: 153).

In sum, neoliberalism in this work is defined as a political rationality that promotes specific methods of government and the constitution of particular subjects. Neoliberalism "is constituted by a political rationality embodying certain principles and ideals, and is based upon a particular conception of the nature of society and its inhabitants" (Rose & Miller, 1992: 191).

The Emergence of Neoliberalism?

There are different understandings of the emergence of neoliberalism based on different definitions of neoliberalism. For example, Navarro (2002) argues that the shift to neoliberalism occurred in the early 1980's because his definition is based strictly on economics. Attempting to name a year, or even a decade, that marks the emergence of neoliberalism is problematic because of the fluidity between liberalism and neoliberalism. This is a reason why some authors use the term 'advanced liberal' instead of neoliberalism (Rose, 1996a; Rose, 1993).

Neoliberalism does not suddenly appear on a specific date and, therefore, it "should be understood: not as designating epochs, but as individuating a multiplicity of attempts to rationalize the nature, means, ends, limits for the exercise of power and styles of governing, the instruments, techniques and practices to which they become linked" (Rose, 1999: 28). Therefore, I will not attempt to specify a date when neoliberalism emerges, yet following

Rose, I will locate the shift to neoliberal political rationalities and techniques of government among the social, political, and historical contexts of the 1960's in the following sections.

The Relationship between Neoliberalism and Narcotics Anonymous

NA arose in the mid-1950's, amidst the post-World War II neoliberal shifts in methods of government and conceptions of subjects (Rose, 1989). This shift was influenced by the increasing importance of psychoanalysis, and changing notions of work, workers and welfare (Rose, 1989). As stated above, it was in the 1960's that NA published their first texts. It was also during this time that the twelve-step program continued to gain popularity (NA Basic Text, 1988: xi). The fact that NA was established in the post-war period and was developed and established during the 1960's and 1970's is important since this was also the period where we see the shift to neoliberal political rationalities.

The neoliberal shift contributed to the emergence of new knowledges and new conceptions of subjects. The subject was transformed "from a mere subject of legal and constitutional rights and duties into a social being whose powers and obligations were articulated in the language of social responsibilities" (Rose, 1989: 224). New techniques of government emerged, with a focus on an individual's responsibility to maintain their psychological and physical health (Rose, 1989; Nettleton, 1997). From these beginnings the self-help movement and NA were established in the 1960's (Starker, 1989; Cruikshank, 1994).

NA's break from AA provides one demonstration of the relationship between NA and neoliberalism. The definition of addiction as a disease is one way in which NA broke from

AA: "Alcoholism is too limited a term for us; our problem is not a specific substance, it is a disease called addiction" (NA Basic Text, 1988: xv). Before this conception of addiction as a disease, alcoholism and addiction were conceptualized as moral deficiencies, such as in the times prior to and during prohibition (Davis & Anderson, 1983). NA, therefore, is part of the shift to what is called the disease model of alcoholism and addiction (Butters & Erickson, 2000; Alexander, 1988).

The disease model involves individualized explanations of behaviour where health becomes a matter of individual responsibility—individuals' become responsible for the outcomes and effects of their disease. People are to be responsible for their health and to engage in prevention (Greco, 1993). Within this disease model, individuals are compelled to be entrepreneurs of their lives and bodies. One's health, happiness, and recovery become projects to be undertaken (Nettleton, 1997). Defining addiction as a disease requires people to become entrepreneurial and responsible in dealing with their disease. Therefore, this break from AA is one example of how NA is aligned with the neoliberal goals of individual responsibility and personal entrepreneurship. As I will demonstrate in Chapters Three and Four, there is an alignment between these neoliberal political rationalities and NA, which requires the constitution of a particular subject.

_

²² Some literature claims that individuals are becoming responsible for the disease itself (Crawford, 1994; Greco, 1993). Because NA understands addiction as a disease that one is born with and that is not caused by external factors, 'addicts' in are not considered responsible for their disease. They are only seen as responsible for their recovery.

Self-Help Movement

A new type of psychology, stemming in part from psychoanalysis, emerged in the 1960's. Its focus was on self-actualization and self-esteem (Starker, 1989). This movement, which I am calling the self-help movement, provided accessible psychology for all and promises of happiness and freedom. Self-help "offered a new definition of the healthy person, in which "adjustment", an important goal of the 1950's, came to mean constriction, and true psychological health meant self-expression and self-realization" (Starker, 1989: 118). NA is a part of this self-help movement emerging in the 1960's. Individuals participate in the NA program, which is individual-based and whose goal is to transform selves, not through psychiatry and doctors, but through working upon one's self with the Twelve Steps and other members of the same recovery program. People have access to 'recovery' and there are promises of happiness and freedom, if the program is followed as directed.

Elayne Rapping (1996) makes a distinction between 1960's feminist conscious-raising groups and the 1980's recovery movement. She argues that the recovery movement is the bringing together of 1960's feminism and AA. A characteristic of the recovery movement is that problems, whether with alcohol, drugs, and/or food are an individual's responsibility. In other words:

problems were not—as feminists had believed—socially determined after all; rather, they were the result of personal, internal flaws of character, of a disease called "addiction" which could be treated (although never cured) by programs and methods of the spiritual, therapeutic 12 Step programs which formed the core units of the movements (Rapping, 1996: 61).

This increased emphasis on problems and treatments as an individual's responsibility began in the 1960's with the emergence of the self-help movement and the shift towards

neoliberalism where we see the radicalization of liberal values of individual responsibility and personal entrepreneurship.

Additionally, the growth of the self-help movement coincides with the emergence of NA in the 1960's. It is interesting that both the self-help movement and neoliberalism flourish in the 1960's given the affinity between their goals and values. New conceptions of subjects and new techniques of government were developed in the 1960's that are aligned with the neoliberal goal of "managing one's self to happiness and fulfillment" (Rose, 1989: 115).

We can see this affinity again in the 1980's recovery movement. The 1980's are the time when the recovery movement becomes pervasive and where we see the rapid increase in the number and type of self-help groups based on the Twelve Steps of AA (Rapping, 1996). Of course, the recovery movement exists prior to this time, but it is during this time that the AA formula spreads throughout North America culture. The 1980's mark the time when the principles of the recovery movement become mainstream (Rapping, 1996). Likewise, neoliberalism became recognized and overt during the 1980's. Like the continuity between liberalism and neoliberalism, there is continuity between the self-help movement of the 1960's and the recovery movement of the 1980's. Both the self-help movement and neoliberalism became established and more pervasive in North American culture in the 1980's. We can see this same pattern in NA as well. NA was established and published its first text in the 1960's, while in the 1980's it publishes its *Basic Text* and its membership expands.

The publication of the first edition of the *NA Basic Text* in the 1980's corresponds to the explosion of self-help literature published during this time. The *NA Basic Text* is comparable to a self-help manual because it instructs people on how to use the NA program of recovery. Like self-help, participation with the NA program of recovery is "an individualized voluntary enterprise, an undertaking to alter, reform or transform the self' (Rimke, 2000: 62). ²³ Thus, principles of the self-help and recovery movements include the notions that personal problems are individual-based and that individuals are responsible for transforming their selves. Likewise in NA, 'addicts' are required to act responsible and entrepreneurial in order to transform their selves; to become entrepreneurs of their recovery.

Mariana Valverde (Valverde and White-Mair, 1999; Valverde, 1998) makes a distinction between AA and other twelve-step self-help groups, specifically Co-Dependents Anonymous (CODA). She argues that the concept of powerlessness is used differently between the two groups, namely that powerlessness in AA is a continuous state of being, while in CODA she claims, powerlessness is conceptualized as temporary. Further, Valverde argues that people stay in AA for the remainder of their life, whereas people in other twelve-step groups only participate in their recovery programs temporarily. She also claims that AA members do not believe that they will be transformed into different people. On account of these distinctions Valverde argues that "AA indirectly subverts the neoliberal discourse of personal entrepreneurship and perpetual improvement" (Valverde, 1988: 129).

²³ Here I am making a distinction between individuals forced into NA by the criminal justice system, whose experience in NA may not be voluntary, and individuals who enter NA without coercion.

This argument contradicts Valverde's acknowledgment that the recovery program of AA (we can extend this to NA) is based upon one's continual self-evaluation and work of the Twelve Steps in order to improve one's life. Individuals participating in NA are taught that they can be, should be, and will be re-made into a different person—a 'recovering addict'—through life-long participation in the NA program. As we will see in Chapter Three, the basis of the NA program is to transform people from 'addicts' into 'recovering addicts'. The program promises people a new life if they follow the program as outlined for the duration of their lives: "When we are willing to follow this course of action and take advantage of the help available to us, a whole new life is possible. In this way, we do recover" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 89). Further, the *NA Basic Text* discusses how engaging with the Twelve Steps is necessary in this transformation: "We get relief through the Twelve Steps, which are essential to the recovery process, because they are a new, spiritual way of life that allows us to participate in our own recovery" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 88). These steps are based on the premise that perpetual improvement is necessary, desirable, and achievable.

Thus, NA does not undermine "the neoliberal discourse of personal entrepreneurship and perpetual improvement" (Valverde & White-Mair, 1999: 401). Rather, NA is aligned with neoliberal political rationalities. The whole premise of NA is that 'addicts' will be transformed into different selves: "The program allows us to become responsible and productive members of society" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 83). NA is aligned with the neoliberal political rationality that requires individuals to actively participate in their 'recovery' through notions of individual responsibility and personal entrepreneurship.

Furthermore, CODA does emphasize continued powerlessness. Step One of the program reads: "We admitted we were powerless over others - that our lives had become unmanageable"24 and narratives on their website state: "I have discovered power through accepting my powerlessness"; "I am powerless over my ego and my own mind, too." This powerlessness is ongoing; one has to continually reaffirm their powerlessness over their lives. egos, and minds in order to work the CODA program. Additionally, the Twelve Steps of CODA are the Twelve Steps of AA (with a change of focus to 'co-dependency'), which are not designed to be practiced only once, but to be repeated. For example, the last three steps demonstrate the ongoing process of practicing the Twelve Steps and maintaining continual powerlessness. In Step Ten, individuals are instructed to continue to take personal inventory, which includes an inventory of whether one is successful in maintaining their powerlessness over others. Step Eleven of CODA reads "Sought through prayer and meditation to improve our conscious contact with God as we understood God, praying only for knowledge of God's will for us and the power to carry that out", while Step Twelve instructs people to practice the principles of the Twelve Steps in all situations of their lives.²⁶ A central principle is that the individual remains powerless over others. Therefore, CODA does emphasize continual powerlessness, like AA and NA, in contrast to Valverde's (Valverde and White-Mair, 1999; Valverde, 1988) argument.

²⁴ 'Foundation Documents: The Twelve Steps of Co-Dependents Anonymous.' <u>Co-Dependents Anonymous</u>. 1998. Accessed from the World Wide Web February 7, 2004. http://www.coda.org/coda12st.html 'Learning Acceptance Brings Peace.' <u>Co-Dependents Anonymous</u>. Accessed from the World Wide Web

February 7, 2004. http://www.coda.org/connect/2002/learning_acceptance_brings_peace.htm 'Foundation Documents: The Twelve Steps of Co-Dependents Anonymous.' Co-Dependents Anonymous. 1998. Accessed from the World Wide Web February 7, 2004. http://www.coda.org/coda12st.html

I am arguing that a self-help movement emerged in the 1960's which developed further and gained a greater stronghold in the 1980's. This movement shares important affinities with neoliberalism in that they espouse the common goals of individual responsibility and personal entrepreneurship. Therefore, the *NA Basic Text* is a part of a broader political rationality, which I am calling neoliberalism, that emphasizes a universal subject, individual responsibility, and personal entrepreneurship. These goals are part of wider discourses that contribute to a specific understanding of the subject and result in a specific form of government. I argue that the NA program and the various techniques of the self it institutes, constitutes a technology of the self which requires individuals to act upon their selves with the goal of achieving recovery. This argument will be expanded upon in Chapters Three and Four. First, I will present my theoretical framework and methodology in the following chapter.

Chapter 2:

Theoretical Framework & Methodology

N.A. is a nonprofit Fellowship or society of men and women for whom drugs had become a major problem. We are recovering addicts who meet regularly to help each other stay clean. This is a program of complete abstinence from all drugs. There is only one requirement for membership, the desire to stop using. We suggest that you keep an open mind and give yourself a break. Our program is a set of principles written so simply that we can follow them in our daily lives. The most important thing about them is that *they work* (NA Basic Text, 1988: 9).

Truth

Modernist approaches to truth work under the assumption that truths are discovered through processes of scientific investigation. This results in the assumption that only certain individuals (i.e., scientists) are capable of uncovering truths (Ward, 1996). In contrast, within the social constructionist and post-structuralist approach I am developing, truths are constructed. Within this theoretical framework knowledges and truths are constituted through discourses, as well as through practices such as statistics (Ward, 1996).

Central to post-structrualist theorizing is the emphasis on the historical specificity of knowledge; it is not a given that exists independently of individuals. Hence, theories are not perceived as "representations of a reality that is wholly exterior to them" (Brown, 1998: 19). Likewise, researchers and theorists are not conceived of as outside of discourse and social and historical contexts, like in modern theories. Meaning is never solidified, never established, therefore variations in how terms are used (postmodernity for example) are continual and change with time and contexts (Hall, 1997). Social experience is based on historical contexts and knowledges, 'truth' discourses, and thus, subjects have meaning "only

within a specific historical context" (Hall, 1997: 46). This perspective arose out of post-structrualist and feminist critiques and challenges to assumptions of the existence of one 'truth' and an essential subject (Flax, 1990).

There is no one fundamental knowledge and truth to be discovered. Rather, different knowledges and truths are produced through continuous construction processes involving discourses, social institutions, beliefs, behaviours, and power relations within social, economic, and historical situations. As Steven Ward points out, "all statements are not equal. Some are made stronger and more real than others." (Ward, 1996: 16). Likewise, emotions, gender, and sexuality are not natural, innate phenomena. They are "determined by the systems of cultural belief, value and moral value of particular communities" (Armon-Jones, 1988: 33). Accordingly, I am working within a theoretical framework that does not involve the use of essentializing concepts. Such an approach allows for a discourse analysis of the NA program of recovery through its *Basic Text*, which explores how truths and subjectivities in NA are produced.

Claiming that addiction and 'addict' subjectivities are constructed does not mean the effects of these constructions are not felt or that individuals' experiences are not 'real'. I am not assuming that addiction and 'addicts' are simply reducible to social constructs. What I am assuming is that there are multiple processes and factors involved in the constitution of 'addict' subjectivities in NA, including historical and situational factors and power relations. These effects are experienced, felt, powerful, and often devastating.

Power and Freedom

I am developing a Foucauldian approach to power where power is defined as "an action upon an action" (Foucault, 1982: 789). In this conception of power, social structures, institutions, and the state are not power, but are the "forms power takes" (Foucault, 1990: 92). To incorporate this definition of power into his work, Foucault analyzes power by asking the question 'how?', which puts the focus not on abstract conceptions of power, but instead on power relations (Foucault, 1982: 785-786).

Foucault views power as a technique, not to be had, owned, but to be carried out. Power is productive and "exists only when it is put into action"; it is not an essential, reified concept based upon one's will (Foucault, 1982: 788). Power is also conceptualized as ubiquitous: "Power is everywhere; not because it embraces everything, but because it comes from everywhere" (Foucault, 1990: 93). There is no one source of power, it is not found in structures or institutions, and it is not localized, instead "[i]t runs through ideologies, truths, discourses, institutions, practices without being equated with any one of them (Grosz, 1990: 88). Relations and exercises of power are therefore central: "[W]hat characterizes the power we are analyzing is that it brings into play relations between individuals (or between groups)" (Foucault, 1982: 786). Power is not imposed upon people, it is "a way of acting upon an acting subject or acting subjects by virtue of their acting or being capable of action" (Foucault, 1982: 789). As Mitchell Dean states: "Power...comes to operate on and through the conduct of the governed" (Dean, 1994: 162).

Using Foucault, Elizabeth Grosz describes how power relations are interconnected with texts (the 'orders of discourse') that institute and maintain practices, and with non-discursive practices (i.e., legal system, policing) that mark bodies, and, lastly, with the effects of these orders (Grosz, 1990: 89). We can see these three orders at work in NA. The *NA Basic Text* is an order of discourse that forms the practices, 'truths', and knowledges of NA, while confession is an example of non-discursive practices (which are the foundation of techniques of power and techniques of the self) in NA that 'marks' bodies (Grosz, 1990: 89). The effect of these two orders is the constitution of specific subjects: 'addict' subjects who govern their selves according to the norms of NA.

Government

Intertwined with this conception of power is the notion of government. This conception of governing is not about control, but about governing people's actions (conduct) with the goal of maximizing their well-being (Rose, 1996b; Greco, 1993) The distinction between government and domination is that the goal of government is to act on individuals' actions and behaviours, whereas the goal of domination is to remove someone's ability to act (Rose, 1999; Foucault, 1982). This is an important distinction because it allows us to move from the idea that individuals are governed solely through repression and violence to an exploration of how individuals participate in government.

Foucault argues that government is not only governing citizens but also a governing of relationships between people and between people and 'things' (Foucault, 1991: 94). There are multiple forms, tools, and techniques of government, which are situated within historical,

political, and social contexts. Therefore, following Foucault and Rose, government in this work is defined as "all endeavours to shape, guide, direct the conduct of others...And it also embraces the ways in which one might be urged and educated to bridle one's own passions, to control one's own instincts, to govern oneself" (Rose, 1999: 3).

This notion of government stems from the governmentality perspective, which originates primarily from Foucault's article, *Governmentality*. Within this perspective the focus is on the "conditions of possibility and intelligibility for certain ways of seeking to act upon the conduct of others, or oneself, to achieve certain ends" (Rose, 1999: 19). Specifically, governmentality is defined as

a way or system of thinking about the nature of the practice of government (who can govern; what governing is; what or who is governed), capable of making some form of that activity thinkable and practicable both to its practitioners and to those upon whom it was practiced (Gordon, 1991: 3).

A governmentality perspective addresses how strategies of government are carried out as well as the emergence of certain truths and strategies because "the exercise of government has become enmeshed with regimes of truth concerning the objects, processes and persons governed" (Rose, 1999: 30). Consequently, theorists adopting a governmentality perspective often embrace a strong constructivist approach, focus on epistemological questions, and frequently use discourse analysis.

A governmentality perspective is useful in understanding the construction of truths in the NA program of recovery because it allows for an examination of multiple forms and understandings of government, including the government of one's self. This perspective

allows for an analysis of NA's discourses and practices in addition to an exploration of the relationship between neoliberal political rationalities and NA.

Subjectivity

The notion of subjectivity used in this work is based on the question: How does an individual come to think, understand, and learn about one's self? (Rose, 1996b). Central to the answer is Foucault's definition of the subject as "subject to someone else by control and dependence, and tied to his [sic] own identity by a conscience or self-knowledge" (Foucault, 1982: 718). This is a definition with two components; not only are people subjected to power relations, they also subject their selves through various techniques. In other words, individuals participate in the formation of their subjectivity.

Subjectivity is a complex concept. Therefore, it is important to clarify the notions of objectification, subjectivation and subjection; all of which are implicated in subjectivity. Before something can be subjected, it has to be produced as an object (a process called objectification). The processes by which individuals are turned into subjects is called subjectivation (de Courville Nicol, 2002). The two definitions of subject (subject to power, and submitting one's subjectivity through self-knowledge, self-government) refer to subjection (de Courville Nicol, 2002).

Foucault (1982) identifies three modes of objectification of the subject. The first mode is objectification through the sciences. Scientific disciplines have different conceptions of the subject. For example, psychology conceptualizes subjects as having a psyche and this

conception affects how people are governed (i.e. they are given psycho-pharmaceutical medications) and how they govern their selves (i.e. they govern their selves as a subject with a psyche). The second mode of objectification is dividing practices where "[t]he subject is either divided inside himself [sic] or divided from others" (Foucault, 1982: 777-8). For example, people are divided into categories—homosexual versus heterosexual, addict versus non-addict—that have normalizing effects. The third mode of objectification is the transformation of the self into a subject as something to be known and mastered. This mode encompasses practices that individuals perform on their selves. These three modes of objectification are elaborated upon on Chapter Three to demonstrate how 'addict' identities are constituted in NA.

Universal Subject

In NA there is a conception of a universal subject; a subject with a shared, common 'addict' identity. This conception does not acknowledge differences between and among people's experiences (Sawicki, 1994). 'Addict' subjects in NA are not conceived of as products of history and culture, therefore, the conception of a universal subject assumes that 'addicts' have a pre-given, pre-determined, underlying identity.

Feminist theory has most carefully considered this dilemma of essentialist categories. Post-structrualist feminist theories emphasize that the feminine subject is not biologically, naturally pre-determined, but is constituted through contextual factors (Grosz, 1990). One such theorist is Judith Butler, who argues that a feminine subject implies a fixed, unchanging subject, which she views as problematic politically and theoretically. Therefore, she attempts

to move beyond this conception of a subject to a notion of the subject as practices (Butler, 1990). For example, gender is not constituted in a vacuum; it is constituted via historical, political and cultural contexts. Therefore, "it becomes impossible to separate out "gender" from the political and cultural intersections in which it is invariably produced and maintained" (Butler, 1990: 3).

Butler argues that feminist theories need to question how subjects are constituted, not simply how they are represented. She challenges the stability of identity categories by arguing that these categories are constituted by repeated performances and by the exclusion of other identity categories. (Butler, 2001: 340). She explains this instability as the different performances of the 'I' and argues that there is no essential identity which underlies these performances. Instead, the repetition of performances results in and challenges the identity itself (Butler, 2001: 337). For example, there are many different ways to perform the identity of an 'addict', which change over time and contexts.

The assumption of a universal subject is that people are the same, that they experience life in the same ways, and that subjects are unchanging over time and with context. To ignore differences results in the exclusion of people who do not fit into the defined category of 'citizen'; 'addict'.

In the conception of subjectivity I am developing power relations are key, as is the assumption that subjectivities are multiple and are constructed. Power is inherent within subjectivation because subjectivities are historically, socially, and politically situated

(Sawicki, 1994). Thus, a central assumption of this work is that subjectivities are fragmented and diverse. The formation of subjectivities in NA comprises Chapter Three.

Risk

In recent years, theorizing on risk has flourished. I will summarize some of the most well known texts on risk to demonstrate where the conception of risk I am developing fits into the existing literature.

Robert Castel (1991) discusses the death of the subject, where the subject is replaced by risk factors, which are social constructions based on actuarial models. Through examining expertise, he argues that both the death of the subject and the move to risk are related to neoliberalism. He argues that the idea that one is dangerous is different from current conceptions of risk factors. Instead of individuals being perceived as containing dangerousness, they are deemed 'risky' when specific factors are present in their life, DNA, history, et cetera. From this move to at-risk individuals comes surveillance, in the form of what Castel calls "systematic predetection" (Castel, 1991: 288). The goal of this surveillance is to foresee and prevent future events and/or behaviors by the individual classified as at-risk. Included in this form of surveillance are techniques of the self, such as self-monitoring.

Neoliberal political rationalities fit into Castel's argument through his discussion of 'hyper-rationalism' (Castel, 1991: 289). He discusses how the move to risk factors in place of subjects implicates one's consumption choices (i.e., drugs, alcohol, types of food, smoking), which are considered risk factors. Neoliberal assumptions of rationality, autonomy, and

responsibility are inherent in the move to risk factors in that the accompanying ideologies are based on "fear and security", rational decision making, and reason; all in an attempt to eliminate risk (Castel, 1991: 289). For example, because individuals are perceived as making a decision to participate in using drugs or not using drugs, their choice and its consequences are assumed to be their responsibility. Therefore, if people choose to continue behaving like 'addicts' they remain high-risk, they are feared, and they are considered irrational and irresponsible.

In the conception of risk I am developing the amount of risk people are perceived as posing is relative to socially ascribed norms and values (Ewald, 1991). Such perceptions of high-risk ('addict') behaviour are based within neoliberal political rationalities that emphasize individual responsibility and personal entrepreneurship. If people engage in behaviour regarded as high-risk they are viewed as irresponsible, irrational, and prompted to stop the undesired behaviour in order to prevent risks to their selves and others. People are increasingly responsible for managing risks (health, safety, environmental) and managing their selves based on different knowledges and discourses of health and security. They are required to be responsible for their actions, behaviours, and attitudes. As a consequence, an individual is regarded as responsible for one's decisions as well as one's "personal failure" (Beck, 1992: 136).

The recovery discourses of NA operate with this conception of risk factors. 'Addicts' remain forever at risk of using drugs in the future and therefore must engage in various techniques of the self, such as abstinence, as prevention. Ingestion of any amount of alcohol or drugs is

considered extremely risky and detrimental to one's life. Another risk factor identified by NA is associating with people who are not in NA:

The ultimate weapon for recovery is the recovering addict. We concentrate on recovery and feelings not what we have done in the past. Old friends, places and ideas are often a threat to our recovery. We need to change our playmates, playgrounds and playthings (NA Basic Text, 1988: 15).

Rose (2000) organizes the mass of literature on government, and risk into two groups: those that emphasize mechanisms of inclusion and those that emphasize mechanisms of exclusion. He argues that the representation of the 'criminal' ('addict') has become an individual who holds a moral responsibility (or has the ability to hold such a responsibility in the future) to their selves and to their community.

Rose (2000) argues that control in government of inclusion works through continual verification of one's identity (i.e., as an 'addict' in NA) and through access to participation in society as a citizen. Under mechanisms of exclusion, those who are regarded as dangerous ('addicts') are excluded and are to be managed and under surveillance as forms of security. Individuals who are perceived as not willing or able to be responsible for their selves and for the risks and dangers they pose are regarded as immoral and excluded. In other words, "[s]ubjects are to do the work on themselves...to make them free" (Rose, 2000: 334). The goal is to foster neoliberal goals of individual responsibility and personal entrepreneurship onto excluded individuals; what Rose calls 'responsibilization' (Rose, 2000: 334).

I am hesitant to classify all risk theorizing into two categories because dichotomizing theories are limiting and perpetuate modern assumptions of binary distinctions and dualities.

I challenge the 'addict'/'non-addict' dichotomy because it is important to question the underlying assumptions of individuals fitting into one of two categories. The distinction between 'addicts' and 'non-addicts' is dependent upon social and historical contexts. Thus, the category of 'addict' is dynamic and not a neutral category.

Often missing from the literature on risk are critical discussions of the concept of risk itself. 'Risk' is reified and usually regarded as a universal concept. Risk is a constructed concept and experiences of risk are not universal or static (Lupton, 1999). Additionally, discussions of risk power relations, besides the relationship between expert and lay individuals, are absent in the literature. There is new work appearing that does look at gender and risk²⁷ although in the main body of risk theory notions of risk as a universal, neutral concept prevail.

Methodology

To gather information about the recovery discourses of NA I am conducting a form of discourse analysis. At a basic level, discourse is defined as "a process resulting in a communicative act" (Chimombo & Roseberry, 1998: ix). Discourse is used to classify, convey, represent, perceive, and interpret ideas, beliefs, and thoughts. The concept of discourse differs from language in that discourse includes actions ('practice') as well as language: "Discourse is about the production of knowledge through language" (Hall, 1997: 44). Therefore, related to discourse is the production of knowledge.

²⁷ See Chan & Rigakos, 2002; Lupton, 1999

Knowledge is no longer regarded as neutral or innate, alternatively, "all knowledge is located within discourse" (Purvis & Hunt, 1993: 492). Discourse and discourse analysis allow for language, and other forms of communication, to be conceptualized as central to the formation of subjects and the production of knowledge (Purvis & Hunt, 1993). The role of discourses is central in subjection and subjectivation. Our subjectivities and identities are "brought into play by discursive strategies and representational practices....power renders the body active and productive" and discourses embed bodies with power (Martin, 1998: 9). Bodies do not represent essential knowledge or truth; they are inscribed by discourses (Martin, 1998).

Language "is performative" (Rose & Miller, 1992: 177). Therefore, an analysis of discourses allows for examinations of how social truths are legitimized and accepted (Davis & Anderson, 1983). Also, "[o]nly through language can the ends of government be formulated, by portraying their object as an intelligible field with identifiable limits within which certain characteristics are linked in a systematic manner" (Rose, 1996b: 70).

Discourse analysis is defined as "the study of the use of language for communication in context" (Georgakopoulou & Goutsos, 1997: iii). An assumption of discourse analysis is that discourse, in a variety of forms, communicates meanings and itself has endless meanings, which are produced within contexts.²⁸ Another assumption of this method of analysis is that individuals interpret discourse, not strictly through texts, but also through the contexts and situations of the text and of the individual (Georgakopoulou & Goutsos, 1997). Discourse analysis assumes there are multiple meanings to texts, which are viewed as a part of and

²⁸ Context, in this work, is defined as "a world filled with people producing utterances: people who have social, cultural, and personal identities, knowledge, beliefs, goals and wants, and who interact with one another in various socially and culturally defined situations" (Schiffrin, 1994, 364).

constructs of social contexts and locations (Chimombo & Roseberry, 1998). In the words of Rose:

It is not so much a question of what a word or a text 'means'...but of analyzing the way a work or book functions in connection with other things, what it makes possible, the surfaces, networks and circuits around which it flows, the affects and passions that it mobilizes and through which it mobilizes. It is thus a matter of what counts as truth, who has the power to define truth, the role of different authorities of truth, and the epistemological, institutional and technical conditions for the production and circulation of truths (Rose, 1999: 29-30).

Taking context into consideration is important because "the text-context relationship is not independent of other relationships" (Schiffrin, 1994: 42). Being aware of when the text was written, for whom, how it is used, who reads it, and why one engages with the text is important. Context is established within this discourse analysis by asking who the audience is, who wrote the text, what the setting is (where and when), who is reading the text, and what are the intended messages and purposes of the text (Brown & Yule, 1983). The ways in which 'addicts' and addiction are discussed, written, and practiced informs beliefs and knowledges about what constitutes recovery and the subjectivities of people in NA. The role of discourse is fundamental to the constitution of subjects: "All discourses, then, construct subject-positions, from which alone they make sense" (Hall, 1997: 56). Discourses have effects and discourse analysis provides the space and methods necessary to investigate these effects.

The object of analysis for this project is the NA Basic Text. The Text²⁹ is the main book used in the twelve-step recovery program of NA. It is a highly influential text which contains the

²⁹ For the remainder of this work, the Narcotics Anonymous Basic Text will be referred to simply as the Text.

core philosophy of NA. The *Text* is used to instruct and guide members of the NA program through recovery by use of the NA Twelve Steps. It is described as "a book about addicts, by addicts and for addicts" (NA Basic Text, 1988: xii). It is relevant for analysis because it is involved in regulating the conduct of people within NA. Additionally, the *Text* (and NA as a whole) influences public policy decisions and mainstream understandings of addiction, 'addicts', and recovery. In particular, the information in the *Text* provides the basis for NA pamphlets and is incorporated into meetings by having members read aloud specified sections as well as being used in recovery houses and drug treatment programs.

The first section of the *Text* ('Book One: Narcotics Anonymous') is composed of ten chapters that outline the twelve-step program: Chapter One *Who is An Addict*; Chapter Two *What is the Narcotics Anonymous Program*?; Chapter Three *Why Are We Here*?; Chapter Four *How It Works*; Chapter Five *What Can I Do*?; Chapter Six *The Twelve Traditions of Narcotics Anonymous*; Chapter Seven *Recovery and Relapse*; Chapter Eight *We Do Recover*; Chapter Nine *Just For Today—Living the Program*; and Chapter Ten *More Will Be Revealed*. These chapters are appropriate to analyze because they outline the steps, behaviours, and attitudes necessary for 'success' in the NA program of recovery.

Discourse analysis is an appropriate method for this work because it allows for an examination of the ways in which addiction, recovery, and 'addicts' are constructed in NA without assuming there is a fundamental truth or true knowledge to be found. Consequently, this analysis allows for an exploration of my research questions because the *Text* presents insight into how 'addict' subjectivities are constituted in NA.

Chapter Three:

The Constitution of Responsible and Entrepreneurial Subjects in NA

What makes a person an 'addict'? NA answers:

Who is an Addict? Most of us do not have to think twice about this question. WE KNOW! Our whole life and thinking was centered in drugs in one form or another....We are people in the grip of a continuous and progressive illness whose ends are always the same: jails, institutions and death (NA Basic Text, 1988: 3).

How is such an 'addict' constructed? This is the question I answer in this chapter. To demonstrate the constitution of subjects in NA, this chapter is broken into four sections based on Foucault's (1982) modes of objectification. The first mode is scientific objectification and in this section I explore definitions of addiction in the *Text*. Here I argue that the biomedical disease model of addiction results in specific understandings and conceptualizations of drug use and drug users. In the second section I discuss the two types of 'addicts' found in the *Text*: 'addicts' who continue to use drugs and 'recovering addicts' who are practicing abstinence and the NA program. I argue that these understandings are interconnected with neoliberal goals of personal entrepreneurship and individual responsibility. This discussion is based upon a mode of objectification Foucault calls dividing practices.

Following from dividing practices I introduce a mode of objectification called unifying practices which I use to explore the implications of NA's focus on shared characteristics of 'addicts' and common experiences of addiction and recovery. I argue that NA's subject is based on humanistic notions of the self as universal and rational, which I critique using Foucauldian and feminist theory. In the last section, I examine NA's requirement of 'addict' self-identification in the context of Foucault's last mode of objectification: self-

objectification. I conclude by arguing that NA's goal of transforming 'addicts' into 'recovering addicts' requires the constitution of a subject who acts responsible and entrepreneurial. At the end of this chapter, I introduce the argument that a particular form of government, that of a technology of the self, arises from the relationship between NA and neoliberalism; an argument that will comprise the subsequent chapter.

Scientific Objectification

Before something can be subjected to power, it has to be produced as an object. Foucault (1982) argues there are three modes of objectification of the subject. Subjection occurs through all three of these modes and is reliant upon a prior subjectivation process:

« L'assujettissement...représente la soumission de la subjectivité et c'est en ce sens qu'il dépend d'une subjectivation préalable » (de Courville Nicol, 2002 : 176).

The first mode identified by Foucault is the process by which subjects are objectified through the sciences. Scientific disciplines have different conceptions of the subject. For example, psychology conceptualizes subjects as having a psyche and this conception affects how people are governed (i.e., they are given psycho-pharmaceutical medications) and how they govern their selves (i.e., govern one's self as a subject with repressed conflicts). In NA, subjects are understood as people with a disease of addiction; an understanding that affects how they are governed and how they govern their selves. I will first outline how the *Text* conceptualizes addiction and 'addicts' followed by a discussion of the implications of these understandings.

³⁰ These processes by which humans are transformed into subjects are also called subjectivation (de Courville Nicol, 2002).

Addiction as a Disease

In the *Text*, addiction is conceptualized as a disease,³¹ more specifically as a fatal disease with no cure: "[W]e have an incurable disease called addiction. The disease is chronic, progressive and fatal" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 7). 'Addicts' are conceived of as having no control over their use of drugs and over their disease: "Once we use, we are under the control of our disease" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 80). In sum, 'addicts' are perceived as having a lifelong, incurable, powerful disease.

As I discussed in the previous chapter, NA broke away from AA in order to define addiction as a disease. In the *Text* it discusses the break from AA: "[W]e knew that many were still going down the road of disillusion, degradation and death, because they were unable to identify with the alcoholic in A.A." (NA Basic Text, 1988: 85). The *Text* explains:

We have only broadened [AA's] perspective. We follow the same path with a single exception; our identification as addicts is all-inclusive with respect to any mood-changing, mind-altering substance. Alcoholism is too limited a term for us; our problem is not a specific substance, it is a disease called addiction (NA Basic Text, 1988: xv).

Before this conception of addiction as a disease, alcoholism and addiction were conceptualized as moral deficiencies, such as in the times prior to and during prohibition (Davis & Anderson, 1983). The *Text* highlights this distinction by stating: "[W]e suffer from a disease, not a moral dilemma. We were critically ill, not hopelessly bad" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 16). Hence, NA is part of the shift to what is called the disease model of addiction

³¹ Addiction is defined in three main ways in the Text, all of which are pathologies: addiction as an allergy, as an obsession/compulsion and as a disease. I will focus on the definition of addiction as a disease because it is the most common and because the first two definitions are encompassed by the disease model.

(Butters & Erickson, 2000; Alexander, 1988). This model emphasizes individualized explanations of behaviour and drug use as well as emphasizing that one's health is one's responsibility. Consequently, subjects in NA are understood as subjects with a disease of addiction that requires specific techniques of self-government.

Because addiction is conceptualized as a disease, one way 'addicts' are represented in the *Text* is through their symptoms. Denial, compulsion, obsession, alienation, guilt, remorse, fear and pride are some of the symptoms of addiction emphasized in the *Text*. Lack of self-control is also represented as a symptom of the disease of addiction: "Our inability to control our usage of drugs is a symptom of the disease of addiction" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 20). This emphasis on symptoms of addiction is another aspect of scientific objectification in that subjects are understood to have a disease that manifests similar symptoms in anyone who has the disease. These symptoms of addiction are assumed to affect all people with the disease of addiction in the same way.

'Addict' Subjects

Chapter One of the *Text* states the definition of an 'addict': "Very simply, an addict is a man or woman whose life is controlled by drugs", yet, who is an 'addict' in NA is more complicated than this sentence suggests (NA Basic Text, 1988: 3). Despite the *Text* stating that addiction is a terminal disease possessing no cure ("we are never cured...we carry the disease within us for the rest of our lives"), a distinction appears in the following sentence: "We have a disease, but we do recover' (NA Basic Text, 1988: 8). There is a tension throughout the *Text* regarding whether an 'addict' can experience recovery. For example, it is

stated that "[a]ddiction is not a hopeless condition from which there is no recovery" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 10). While in direct opposition, in the chapter *Recovery and Relapse*, it reads: "We can never fully recover, no matter how long we stay clean" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 80).

This apparent contradiction can be explained: 'Addicts' can recover by practicing the NA program of recovery, but they can never *entirely* recover. According to NA, 'addicts' need to remain life-long members of NA and to practice the Twelve Steps daily in order to prevent their disease from taking over their lives: "The steps are our solution. They are our survival kit. They are our defense against addiction which is a deadly disease. Our steps are the principles that make recovery possible" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 19). Even after years of abstinence, the *Text* teaches people that they will always be 'addicts' and therefore will always need to practice the NA program of recovery:

We have seen addicts come to our Fellowship, try our program and stay clean for a period of time. Over time some addicts lost contact with other recovering addicts and eventually returned to active addiction. They forgot that it is really the first drug that starts the deadly cycle all over again (NA Basic Text, 1988: 75).

However, 'addicts' can experience recovery and transform their selves into 'recovering addicts' if they practice and engage in NA: "We are convinced that there is only one way for us to live, and that is the N.A. way" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 8). This distinction, and its implications, will be elaborated on in the next section on dividing practices. First, some of the implications of scientific objectification need to be highlighted.

Implications of scientific objectification

Subjects in NA are understood as having a disease. This affects how they are governed and how they govern their selves. One implication of this definition of addiction is that individuals participating in NA are told that they can never fully achieve recovery. Addiction is conceptualized as an incurable disease that needs to be combated each and every day, for the remainder of one's life: "We cannot afford to become complacent, because our disease is with us twenty-four hours a day" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 97). In this sense individuals do not graduate from NA, they remain lifetime members: "We can never fully recover, no matter how long we stay clean" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 80). The only way 'addicts' can counter the effects of their disease of addiction is by diligently practicing the NA program of recovery and its Twelve Steps.

Second, the adoption of the disease model results in the necessity to diagnose and label one as having the disease of addiction. This diagnosis reinforces the binary opposition between an 'addict' and a 'non-addict' with no middle ground for people who would like to engage in substance treatment without identifying as an 'addict' (Davis & Anderson, 1983). Therefore, subjects in NA can only be 'addicts'. More specifically, 'addicts' with a permanent, life-long disease. This requires a subject who is responsible for, and manages, the symptoms and outcomes of their disease; a subject who acts entrepreneurial and responsible. This leads into another mode of objectification called dividing practices.

Dividing Practices

Foucault defines dividing practices as processes by which "[t]he subject is either divided inside himself [sic] or divided from others" (Foucault, 1982: 777-8). People are separated into categories—homosexual versus heterosexual, addict versus non-addict, addict versus recovering addict—through discourses and practices. 'Addicts' are understood to have a disease that some people have and others do not. Therefore, there is a distinction made between those who are 'addicts' and those who are not 'addicts'. There is also a distinction within the category of 'addict' between people who are practicing abstinence and NA, and people who are not. These processes have normalizing effects because one category is valued over the other.

In this section I will focus on the categories of 'addict' and 'recovering addict' found in the *Text*. I argue that there are two constructions of 'addicts' in the *Text*, one which is perceived as dangerous and harmful and one that is highly desired and is the goal of the NA program of recovery.

The *Text* begins with: "We cannot change the nature of the addict or the addiction. We can help to change the old lie "Once an addict, always an addict," by striving to make recovery more available. God, help us to remember this difference" (NA Basic Text, 1988: xiiii). Like I discussed in the previous section, in one sense people with the disease of addiction remain 'addicts' for life, on the other hand, the *Text* argues that 'addicts' do not have to remain 'addicts' and encourages them to seek recovery through NA. The distinction is between 'addicts' who are continuing to use drugs ('addicts') and 'addicts' who are abstinent and

practicing NA ("recovering addicts" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 9) or "clean addicts" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 85)). Recovery is the distinction; recovery is regarded as the difference between always being an (actively using) 'addict' and becoming a 'recovering addict' who is abstinent from substances and practicing the program of NA.

These two representations of 'addicts' presented in the *Text* are important because they demonstrate how individuals in NA are required to replace one identity ('addict') with another ('recovering addict'). The two identities are opposed to one another and the identity of 'recovering addict' is valued over that of the 'addict'. One cannot have both identities at the same time, but it is possible to move between the categories. The move from 'addict' to 'recovering addict' is the goal of NA, while the move from 'recovering addict' to 'addict' is feared.

These two identities are defined in relation to one another. The *Text* revolves around how individuals are required to adopt the new identity of 'recovering addict' in order to experience freedom, happiness, and health. It outlines characteristics of 'addicts' and compares these to characteristics of 'recovering addicts'. 'Addicts' are represented as selfish (NA Basic Text, 1988: 3), fearful (NA Basic Text, 1988: 15), hostile (NA Basic Text, 1988: 3), self-destructive (NA Basic Text, 1988: 77), self-pitying (NA Basic Text, 1988: 4), in denial (NA Basic Text, 1988: 80), and as living like animals (NA Basic Text, 1988: 101). On the other hand, 'recovering addicts' are represented as useful (NA Basic Text, 1988: 8), self-

³² I will use 'recovering addict' instead of 'clean addict' because the goal of NA involves more than being 'clean' from all substances.

supporting (NA Basic Text, 1988: 67), living worth-while lives, and enjoying life (NA Basic Text, 1988: 50). The message from the *Text* is:

Using addicts are self-centered, angry, frightened and lonely people. In recovery, we experience spiritual growth. While using, we were dishonest, self-seeking and often institutionalized. The program allows us to become responsible and productive members of society (NA Basic Text, 1988: 83).

To keep the identity of an 'addict' is represented as dangerous and unhealthy: "[T]hose of us who don't die from the disease will go on to prison, mental institutions or complete demoralization as the disease progresses" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 7). Further, if individuals remain 'addicts' they are represented as irresponsible: "Through our inability to accept personal responsibilities we were actually creating our own problems" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 13). This characteristic is placed in opposition to the characteristics of the identity of a 'recovering addict' who is represented as healthier and working responsibly to engage in their new identity: "Now we accept responsibility for our problems and see that we're equally responsible for our solutions" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 94).

NA requires 'addicts' to change—cease—unhealthy and irresponsible behaviours. Such behavioural changes are the only way people who identify or are perceived as 'addicts' have any possibility of being accepted within larger society. 'Recovering addicts' are represented as capable of facing reality and of becoming useful: "One of the continuing miracles of recovery is becoming a productive, responsible member of society" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 102). The *Text* teaches that those who adopt the 'recovering addict' identity will be able to participate in larger society and experience happiness and freedom, unlike those who

continue to use drugs. The *Text* emphasizes that there is hope for individuals considered 'recovering addicts', unlike individuals who remain 'addicts'.

We can relate this dichotomy of 'addict' and 'recovering addict' identities to Weber's notion of status groups. Weber defines power as spread out through society via "classes, status groups, and parties" (Weber, 1958: 181). He makes a distinction between classes and status groups. Classes are determined by economic exchange and placement in the market while status groups are defined by honor and social norms. Unlike classes, status groups are communities where "every typical component of the life fate of men [sic] [that] is determined by a specific, positive or negative, social estimation of *honor*" (Weber, 1958: 187). A common, shared lifestyle is the basis for this honor and membership in a status group. Status is based on dividing practices, thus status groups "are stratified according to the principles of their *consumption* of goods as represented by special 'styles of life'" and are maintained by rituals and norms of behaviour within the group (Weber, 1958: 193).

Therefore, NA can be classified as a status group because it is a community that has a shared, specific lifestyle based on the consumption (or absence of consumption) of narcotics and alcohol. NA as a status group is based on "status honor, which always rests upon distance and exclusiveness" where certain behaviours and rituals are privileged over others Weber, 1958: 190-191). Those who do not participate in the group in the specified manner established by NA are excluded since "status groups are the specific bearers of all 'conventions'" (Weber, 1958: 191).

NA's members are governed by rituals and norms of behaviour established by the NA program and NA groups.³³ One of these norms is to focus on whether someone is an 'addict' or a 'recovering addict', thereby excluding other possibilities. Perceived 'addicts' are divided into these two categories and as a consequence those who contest norms in NA are not welcomed into membership of the community; they are told they are in denial of having a disease of addiction:

Most addicts resist recovery...If newcomers tell us that they can continue to use drugs in any form and suffer no ill effects, there are two ways we can look at it. The first possibility is that they are not addicts. The other is that their disease has not become apparent to them and that they are still denying their addiction (NA Basic Text, 1988: 86-87).

Consequently, the identities of the 'recovering addict' and the 'addict' are produced through this distinction between those participating in the status group of NA according to its norms and those who are not.

Implications of Dividing Practices

An implication of these dividing practices is normalization. A norm is established—that of a 'recovering addict' who practices the NA program of recovery as it is prescribed—and people are measured, compared, and defined by this norm. Individuals participating in NA are judged in the *Text* for not following the NA program guidelines. If people do not admit that they are 'addicts' and that they are powerless over their disease of addiction, they are believed to be in denial: "Denial of our disease and other reservations keep us sick" (NA

³³ Each NA group is governed by norms established in NA literature and through the World Service Conference (i.e., the NA Twelve Steps must be read at every meeting in order for it to call it's self an NA group). Yet the groups are able to establish some of their own norms within the guidelines of NA. For example, a group can chose which passages to read in meetings, as long as the readings are approved NA literature from the Narcotics Anonymous World Service (i.e., the NA Basic Text), they can chose for the meeting to be open or closed to the public, and/or to be smoking or non-smoking (Narcotics Anonymous, 2004).

Basic Text, 1988: 53). If they do not make a decision to turn their wills and lives over to the care of a Higher Power as outlined in Step Two and Step Three they are described as lacking willingness and faith (NA Basic Text, 1988: 25). If the self-inventories of Step Four, Step Five, and Step Ten are not taken, one is described as lacking honesty in the *Text*: "If we are not honest when we take a Fifth Step, we will have the same negative results that dishonesty brought us in the past" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 30).

The *Text* states that Step Six requires willingness: "Willingness is what we strive for in Step Six. How sincerely we work this step will be proportionate to our desire for change" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 33). Accordingly, if people do not engage with this step they are seen as lacking humility. Likewise, individuals who do not ask their higher power to remove their shortcomings in Step Seven are judged as lacking humility (NA Basic Text, 1988: 35). If Steps Eight and Nine (making amends to those they have harmed) are not practiced, one is seen as fearful and at risk for relapse: "This step should not be avoided. If we do, we are reserving a place in our program for relapse. Pride, fear and procrastination often seem an impossible barrier; they stand in the way of progress and growth" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 39). When Step Eleven and Step Twelve are not practiced, individuals are perceived as selfish and self-centred: "[O]ur egos are so self-centered that we won't accept God's will for us without another struggle or surrender" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 45).

The *Text* describes the appropriate ways in which to work the NA program of recovery and its Twelve Steps. Deviations from these norms are noted and judgments are made; people who deviate are perceived as lacking willingness, humility and honesty. Thus, one way

people are objectified (turned into 'addict' subjects) in NA is through dividing practices that separate people believed to have the disease of addiction into those who are practicing the Twelve Steps as prescribed and living 'the NA way' and those who are choosing to live irresponsibly and insanely. In other words, subjects in NA are divided into those who are responsible and those who are not.

Unifying Practices

Another implication of dividing practices is unifying practices,³⁴ which focuses on similarities between members of groups while excluding other members. 'Addict' and 'recovering addict' identities are produced and maintained through dividing practices and discourses. This distinction has normalizing effects because the 'recovering addict' identity is established as the standard to be met. Any deviation from this standard marks a subject as irresponsible and unwilling to become sane and healthy.

Not only are there standards that distinguish between 'recovering addicts' and 'addicts', there are standards set within each category. In order for people to remain in the 'recovering addict' category they are required to adhere to specific norms of behaviours established by NA and outlined in the *Text*. To identify as a 'recovering addict' in NA, people must abstain from all substances and live "the N.A. way" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 8). This 'way of life' includes solidarity with NA, its principles, and other 'recovering addicts'. Therefore, another process of objectification occurs when people in NA relate to other 'recovering addicts' as people with the same disease. This creates a sense of belonging and perpetuates the belief that "all addicts are basically the same in kind" who have common experiences of addiction

³⁴ This concept was developed by Dr. Valérie de Courville Nicol during one of our discussion in 2004.

and recovery (NA Basic Text, 1988: 74). For example, Valverde argues that the sharing that occurs at NA meetings "functions as much to bind the group together and create a sense of commonality as to build up individual identity" (Valverde, 1998: 131).

We can see these unifying practices in NA's understandings of 'addicts' as people who experience drug use and recovery in the same way. The assumption is that there is a commonality between all people who are 'addicts', which serves to produce the category and the identity of the 'addict' subject. This identity follows the dual conception outlined earlier between the 'addict' and 'recovering addict'.

The NA program is based on a universal conception of an 'addict', where differences in experiences are ignored and commonalities are the focus. There are limited references to 'addicts' as men (NA Basic Text, 1988: 65; NA Basic Text, 1988: 84; NA Basic Text, 1988: 85) and less references to 'addicts' as women in the *Text*. Instead, gender neutral pronouns such as 'we' and 'us' are used in the *Text* when discussing 'addicts' who use drugs in and outside of the NA program: "[W]e speak in terms of 'we' and 'our' rather than 'me' and 'mine'" to facilitate "working together for our common welfare" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 73). "[T]he 'I' becomes 'me'" approach works to unify people who identify as 'recovering addicts' (NA Basic Text, 1988: 72). The emphasis is on a certain type of person—an 'addict'—who has common characteristics:

Addiction does not discriminate. This tradition [The only requirement for membership is a desire to stop using] is to ensure that any addict, regardless of drugs used, race, religious beliefs, sex, sexual preference, or financial condition is

³⁵ The second part of the NA Basic Text is comprised of thirty-eight narratives written from the perspective of members of the NA program detailing their experiences as 'addicts' and as 'recovering addicts'. Thirteen of these stories are written from the perspective of women.

free to practice the N.A. way of life...one addict is never superior to another. All addicted persons are welcome and equal in obtaining the relief that they are seeking from their addiction; every addict can recover in this program on an equal basis (NA Basic Text, 1988: 62).

The *Text* acknowledges that people have different experiences: "Our personal experiences while using differed from one another. As a group, however, we have found many common themes in our addiction" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 59). It is considered crucial for 'recovering addicts' to maintain relationship with other 'recovering addicts': "If, while practicing these principles, we allow ourselves to feel superior or inferior, we isolate ourselves. We are headed for trouble if we feel apart from other addicts" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 97). The formation of new relationships with other members of NA is considered vital to one's 'recovery' since an 'addict' must leave their social environment and create a new life within the NA community: "Old friends, places and ideas are often a threat to our recovery. We need to change our playmates, playgrounds and playthings" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 15).

The goal of NA is for 'addicts' to help each other in becoming responsible and productive members of society through learning a new way of life through the Twelve Steps: "At meetings we can share with other addicts, ask questions and learn about our disease. We learn new ways to live...Gradually, we replace old habits with new ways of living. We become willing to change" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 54). This recovery program gives individuals "a new set of associations...which are intended to aid in the unlearning of unconventional behavior" (Pfohl, 1994: 317). In this sense, the NA program is an example of "corrective unlearning" which exposes individuals in NA "to strong group pressures toward

conventionality" (Pfohl, 1994: 317). We can see the normalizing effects of unifying practices in these pressures to follow the norms of NA.

Implications of unifying practices

To claim that addiction is experienced in the same way by all people and not acknowledge different experiences results in ignoring the broader contexts of drug use. Issues such as poverty, gender, and marginalization are interconnected with drug use (Measham, 2002; Boyd, 2001; Campbell, 2000; Erickson et al., 2000). Exercises of power are ignored by saying that everyone experiences addiction in the same way and that all 'addicts' possess the same qualities and characteristics. A teenager's experience with drug use differs from the experiences of older persons. What drugs are used and how they are used matter, however in NA prescription medication, marijuana, alcohol, and injecting heroin are regarded as having the same effects on people. Stating that "all addicts are basically the same in kind" disregards different experiences of drug use and recovery (NA Basic Text, 1988: 74).

This results in part because of NA's assumption of a rational, universal subject. Foucault challenges this humanist approach by arguing that the subject is produced through power relations, specifically "a form of power which subjugates and makes subject to" (Foucault, 1982: 781). Feminist theorists also critique notions of universal subjects because people who are considered irrational, such as women and in this case 'addicts', are excluded from the definition of a subject. As Margaret McLaren argues, "the universal norms of humanism incorporate an ideal of rationality that is constituted through the exclusion of otherness" (McLaren, 2002: 48). The notion of a universal, rational subject "erases differences that may

be constitutive of subjectivity" (McLaren, 2002: 75). Individuals' experiences and social relationships are not addressed. The subject is conceptualized as isolated, not as situated within various contexts (McLaren, 2002).

In NA differences among people are not considered important. Rather, they are seen as distracting in the *Text*: "Addiction and withdrawal distort rational thought, and newcomers usually focus on differences rather then similarities. They look for ways to disprove the evidence of addiction or disqualify themselves from recovery" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 87). This is due in part to defining addiction as a disease, which "takes attention away from the *why* of the epidemics and their consequences, the reasons and causes for so much misery" (Rapping, 1996: 80).

Self-Objectification

The last mode of objectification is the transformation of the self into an object to be known and mastered, which I am calling self-objectification (Foucault, 1982). This mode encompasses practices individuals perform on their selves and is included in Foucault's definition of the subject as "tied to his [sic] own identity by a conscience or self-knowledge" (Foucault, 1982: 781). Subjects are not passive; they play a part in their objectification and subjection. This does not to imply that all subjection is negative, there are degrees of subjection; degrees to the submission of one's subjectivity (de Courville Nicol, 2002).

One way in which subjects in NA objectify their selves is by adopting the identity of 'addict'.

In order to transform one's self into a 'recovering addict' one is first required, in the NA

program, to self-identify as an 'addict': "We feel that each individual has to answer the question, 'Am I an addict?" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 7). Self-identifying as an 'addict' is considered the first step to recovery: "Once we identify ourselves as addicts, help becomes possible" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 7). Each person is required to identify as such in order to participate in NA. Adopting an 'addict' identity is central to the NA program of recovery: "Denial of our addiction kept us sick, but our honest admission of addiction enabled us to stop using" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 7-8). This self-identification is a part of Step One's admittance that one is powerless over their disease of addiction. Once one identifies as an 'addict' one is required to actively participate in NA and act upon one's self in order to transform into a 'recovering addict'.

This self-identification is done by subjects to their selves. It serves to classify and characterize individuals as 'addicts' who are different from those who are 'non-addicts'.

Once one identifies as an 'addict', this person becomes different than others who do not have the disease of addiction and, thus, participates in particular forms of self-government according to this new identity (i.e., practicing abstinence and NA's Twelve Steps because you have the disease of addiction). By identifying one's self as an 'addict', a person is engaging in self-objectification and acting in accordance with NA's norms that require individuals to adopt a new identity as a person who has a disease, who has no control over drugs, and who requires constant self-government to prevent the disease from taking over one's life. In this sense, people make their selves subjects and actively participate in their subjection when they subject their selves by acting in accordance with the relevant norms of NA. NA can therefore be seen as a 'revitalization movement' that requires "the total

transformation of a person's self-conception, the categories by which the person defines his or her self-identity and place in the world" (Davis & Anderson, 1983: 268).

NA's individualized explanations of behaviour lead to a particular form of government based on an objectification of the self. In this form of government 'addicts' are prompted to act on their selves through particular techniques of the self according to the norms of NA (such as abstinence) to achieve the desired aim of recovery. These techniques of the self are life-long endeavors since addiction is conceptualized as a disease without a cure.

Conclusion

Addiction is regarded as a disease that is fatal and incurable, "[h]owever, it is a treatable disease" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 7). Treatable only through the NA program of recovery, which separates individuals who are not abstinent from all drugs ('addicts') from individuals who are practicing abstinence and the Twelve Steps of NA ('recovering addicts'). This difference is central to how 'addicts' and addiction are represented within the NA program of recovery because people participating in NA are divided into these two categories. The goal of NA is to transform people with the disease of addiction from 'addicts' into 'recovering addicts'.

In the *Text*, one can choose to be an 'addict', which is strongly discouraged, or one can choose to practice NA and adopt a new identity and life as a 'recovering addict'. People are to transform their selves through the recovery process of NA from an 'addict' into a 'recovering addict'. This acts to enlist subjects in NA and gives hope of a new, improved life.

There is a contrast between one's life when one is not in NA and one's life in the NA program of recovery. One's life before participating in NA is represented as dangerous and harmful, while one's life after adopting the 'recovering addict' identity is represented as an improvement, even as a miracle: "The program works a miracle in our lives" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 11). The differentiation between one's life before NA ('addict') and after NA ('recovering addict') is highlighted through discussions of the changes one experiences due to practicing the NA program of recovery: "Daily practice of our Twelve Step Program enables us to change from what we were to people guided by a Higher Power" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 83).

The constitution of subjects who act entrepreneurial is necessary in NA. The transformation of one's self from an 'addict' into a 'recovering addict' requires a subject who manages one's life according to the principles of NA. As discussed previously, this expansion of the entrepreneur to all members of a population is a characteristic of neoliberalism: "The entrepreneur, it seems, was actually quite like us: we *could* all be entrepreneurially successful, we could all learn to be self-realizing, if we learned the skills of self-presentation, self-direction and self-management" (Rose, 1989: 115). Rose (1999) argues that neoliberal government requires the constitution of subjects who are able to continually improve upon their selves and their lives. Therefore, to transform one's self in this way requires a subject to practice the neoliberal goals of individual responsibility and personal entrepreneurship. As Petersen argues, "[n]eo-liberalism calls upon the individual to enter into the process of his or her own self-government through processes of endless self-examination, self-care and self-improvement" (Petersen, 1997: 194).

We see this neoliberal subject in NA where individuals are constructed as able to change their selves from individuals who use drugs compulsively (individuals who are represented as irresponsible, selfish, and dependent on drugs) to individuals who abstain from drug use (individuals who are represented as responsible and sane).

Chapter Four:

Narcotics Anonymous as a Technology of the Self

This program works a miracle in our lives. We become different people (NA Basic Text, 1988: 11).

We learn that the program won't work when we try to adapt it to our life. We must learn to adapt our life to the program (NA Basic Text, 1988: 55).

In the previous chapter I outlined two identities ('addict' and 'recovering addict') found in NA. Now the question becomes, how do 'addicts' transform their selves into 'recovering addicts'. The answer: 'Addicts' are transformed into 'recovering addicts' through a form of government called techniques of the self.

Political rationalities underlie all modes of government, therefore neoliberalism promotes particular ways of governing individuals and populations which correspond to its broader goals and political rationalities. Certain goals of neoliberal government are emphasized which require the constitution of a 'neoliberal' subject. In order for these goals, discussed in Chapter One (i.e., market expansion, the spread of entrepreneurship to all individuals), to be achieved, the constitution of subjects who act according to neoliberal imperatives is necessary. In other words, "forms of political power become intrinsically linked to a knowledge of human subjectivity" (Rose, 1996b: 62-63).

Foucault defines technologies of the self as those

which permit individuals to effect by their own means or with the help of others a certain number of operations on their own bodies and souls, thoughts, conduct, and way of being, so as to transform themselves in order to attain a certain state of happiness, purity, wisdom, perfection, or immortality (Foucault, 1988: 18).

Foucault (1988) makes a distinction between these technologies and technologies of production, technologies of sign systems, and technologies of power, however he notes that these technologies are interconnected. A *technique* of the self is made up of techniques or practices through which individuals seek to achieve desired goals, whereas a *technology* of the self is a broader 'system' that encompasses various, diverse techniques of the self. These technologies and techniques of government do "not seek to *crush* subjectivity but to produce individuals who attributed a certain kind of moral subjectivity to themselves and who evaluated and reformed themselves according to its norms" (Rose, 1996b: 78). Furthermore, "[i]t is through technologies that political rationalities and the programmes of government that articulate them become capable of deployment (Rose & Miller, 1992: 183).

In order to demonstrate how 'addicts' transform their selves into 'recovering addicts' I will begin with a discussion of neoliberalism, followed by a discussion of freedom. In the second section of this chapter I examine abstinence and confession as specific techniques of the self employed in NA. First, I outline more concretely how the neoliberal goals of personal entrepreneurship and individual responsibility underlie the deployment of specific techniques of the self.

Personal Entrepreneurship

With neoliberalism, entrepreneurship is spread from specific individuals to all individuals.

While an elite of entrepreneurs was created under market liberalism, with neoliberalism

"every human being is an entrepreneur managing their own life, and should act as such"

(Treanor, 2004: 10). There has been a shift from entrepreneurs as a specific group of people

who respond to the market, to entrepreneurs as all individuals in a population. Individuals are now required to organize, manage, and assume the risks of their decisions, choices: their lives. Enterprise "designates an array of rules for the conduct of one's everyday existence: energy, initiative, ambition, calculation, and personal responsibility" (Rose, 1996b: 154). Therefore, neoliberal rationalities require the constitution of subjects who are personally entrepreneurial; who participate and compete in the market; who continually respond to the market and its discourses; who manage expertise discourse; and who make calculated decisions. Those who do not engage in this subjectivity are considered failures since they are not acting in accordance with the broader rationalities which require an active, entrepreneurial subject (Treanor, 2004; Robertson, 2001; Rose, 1996b; Greco, 1993).

This expansion of a market philosophy into the social sphere, extended to every individual, is a fundamental characteristic of neoliberalism and requires the constitution of subjects who act upon their selves through techniques of the self (i.e., learning to sell one's self in a job interview). For individuals to act in an entrepreneurial fashion they must be able to, and chose to, act upon their selves. In other words they must participate in techniques of the self.

With neoliberalism, there has been a shift from the goal of constructing individuals as passive to the goal of constructing individuals "as active individuals seeking to 'enterprise themselves', to maximize their quality of life through acts of choice" (Rose, 1996a: 57). Individuals are responsible for their choices and their health and well-being. Therefore, we see an emergence of an 'enterprising self' which

will make an enterprise of its life, seek to maximize its own human capital, project itself a future, and seek to shape itself in order to become that which it wished to be.

The enterprising self is thus both an active self and a calculating self, a self that calculates *about* itself and that acts *upon* itself in order to better itself (Rose, 1996b: 154).

The enterprising subject as autonomous is a goal of neoliberal government (Rose, 1996b).

People are required to be, and are constituted as, autonomous in order for the governing practices of techniques of the self to be effective. Individuals are required to act as if they are autonomous in order to work and act upon their selves:

enterprise also provides a rationale for the structuring of the lives of individual citizens. Individuals are to become, as it were, entrepreneurs of themselves, shaping their own lives through the choices they make among the forms of life available to them (Rose, 1989: 226).

The neoliberal subject is perceived as able to self-govern and as responsible for this self-government: "[I]t has become possible to govern without governing *society*—to govern through the 'responsibilized' and 'educated' anxieties and aspirations of individuals and their families" (Rose, 1999: 88). Neoliberal political rationalities prompt the constitution of subjects who engage in self-government—subjects who are entrepreneurial and responsible. As such, we see the emergence of a subject who engages in specific techniques of the self. Such a subject's objectives are to be autonomous, to manage risks, and to achieve fulfillment in areas of health, success and happiness, as well as to be individually responsible for this fulfillment by making the appropriate choices (Robertson, 2001; Rose, 1996b).

<u>Individual Responsibility</u>

Neoliberalism is in part a response to the welfare state, which emphasizes social and collective responsibility (MacGregor, 1999). In contrast, with neoliberal political rationalities

individuals become increasingly responsible for their health, well-being and happiness. Characteristics of the shift to neoliberal forms of government include the conception of the subject as autonomous, the rise in the importance and role of experts and expertise, the idea that individuals can improve their lives, and the constitution of subjects as responsible and able to govern their selves (Nettleton, 1997).

Neoliberal subjects are expected to be responsible for their health and to self-govern in order to achieve the desired goals of happiness and well-being. Individuals can "achieve normality through working on themselves, controlling their impulses in their everyday conduct and habits, [and] inculcating norms of conduct into their children" (Rose, 1999: 76). Sarah Nettleton argues that individuals are perceived as able to control their health in neoliberal cultures and consequently, individuals "have a right and a duty to maintain, contribute to and ensure" their health (Nettleton, 1997: 208). People become responsible to actively preserve and 'better' their current and future health. The standards of what constitutes health and well-being are established by experts, which are passed onto individuals who are required to act on their selves to ensure their health (Nettleton, 1997). As a consequence, "[g]overnment has increasingly come to rely on these 'technologies of the self' to shape and enhance the capacities of individuals" (Nettleton, 1997: 212).

Thus, individuals who engage with established definitions of what 'good' health entails are demonstrating and fulfiling the norm of "taking responsibility for determining one's future" (Crawford, 1994: 1352). Pursuing one's health is a rational goal in neoliberal cultures and it is the individual who is personally responsible for this pursuit. Those who do not engage in

taking responsibility for their health are deemed irresponsible and dangerous. Robert Crawford (1994) argues that the notion of the 'unhealthy other' is placed in opposition to the 'healthy self'. The unhealthy others are conceptualized as lacking self-control, as dangerous to the healthy selves, as irresponsible and as responsible for their disease. This is easily compared to the dichotomy between 'addicts' and 'recovering addicts' in NA.

This neoliberal imperative of individual responsibility requires the constitution of subjects who act in accordance with expert knowledges that inform subjects on how to act responsibly. For example, expert discourses on nutrition are disseminated and people are expected to respond to these discourses and make decisions about what they eat according to this information. People are encouraged to believe, and to act in accordance with the principle, that they are able, and have a right and a duty, to shape their future, health, and well-being.

We see this neoliberal goal of individual responsibility in NA. Recovery is explicitly defined as each 'addicts' responsibility, however there is a distinction between 'addicts' being responsible for their disease of addiction and being responsible for their recovery. The *Text* emphasizes that individuals are responsible for preventing relapse, yet they are not responsible for their disease of addiction: "Although we are not responsible for our disease, we are responsible for our recovery" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 15). 'Recovering addicts' are responsible for engaging in and practicing the NA program: "Recovery found in Narcotics Anonymous must come from within, and no one stays clean for anyone but themselves" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 80).

In this way, subjects in NA are individualized through techniques of the self. It becomes necessary for 'recovering addicts' to know, to understand, and to act upon their selves. The neoliberal entrepreneurial notion that "work on the self and its relations to others is in the interests of personal development and must be an individual commitment" is present within the NA program of recovery (Rose, 1996b: 79). 'Addicts' are taught through the *Text* to know their selves in order to regulate their conduct, beliefs, thoughts, and bodies: "[W]e form a habit of looking at ourselves, our actions, attitudes and relationships on a regular basis" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 41). The *Text* emphasizes the importance of knowing one's self in order to maintain abstinence and recovery. As Rose argues "we have come to relate to ourselves as creatures of self-responsibility and self-mastery, with the capacity to transform ourselves and make our own lives the object of practices of self-shaping" (Rose, 1999: 95). Therefore, the practices of government in NA involve techniques of the self; techniques that require 'recovering addicts' to act on their selves in order to transform their selves from 'addicts' into 'recovering addicts'; from unhealthy, irresponsible people into healthy, responsible people.

'Addicts' are thus prompted to engage in specific techniques of the self in order to self-govern for the goal of recovery. A successful recovery is defined in NA as transforming 'addicts' into "responsible and productive members of society" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 83). The *Text* explains that 'addicts' cannot be responsible, productive, happy, healthy, nor are they able to participate in society. The only way such an individual can possess these characteristics and become a good, responsible citizen is by transforming one's self into a 'recovering addict': "We change every day. We gradually and carefully pull ourselves out of

the isolation and loneliness of addiction and into the mainstream of life" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 35). The Twelve Steps of NA are central in this transformation from 'addict' to 'recovering addict'. There is a focus on a new way of life that is available through membership and participation in NA: "What is our message? The message is that an addict, any addict, can stop using drugs, lose the desire to use, and find a new way to live" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 65).

Before I move into the discussion of abstinence and confession as techniques of the self in NA, an important concept needs to be addressed. For techniques of the self to be used, people must believe that they have the ability to act upon their selves. To govern one's self is to assume that one has the freedom to do so.

Freedom

As I demonstrated in the previous chapter, Foucault's conception of the subject is central to understanding 'addict' subjectivities in NA. He conceptualizes the subject as fragmented, dynamic and fluid unlike humanist conceptions of the subject as unified and static.

Specifically, he outlines two definitions of subject: "subject to someone else by control and dependence, and tied to his [sic] own identity by a conscience or self-knowledge" (Foucault, 1982: 781). This understanding of the subject is central to my argument because it allows for an understanding of individuals as constructed as able and willing to participate in their own government.

Rose argues that people in neoliberal cultures are governed through their freedom and are constructed as 'free' subjects: "[M]odern individuals are not merely 'free to choose', but obliged to be free, to understand and enact their lives in terms of choice" (Rose, 1999: 87). Individuals in neoliberal societies are conceived of as autonomous, able to make appropriate decisions, and free to make such decisions. In these cultures, Rose (1999) argues, freedom is synonymous with autonomy in that individuals are conceptualized as able to choose which direction their lives take and as able to achieve their goals. He argues that "free individuals become governable—in a range of different ways with varying consequences—as normal citizens" (Rose, 1999: 76). Accordingly, people are expected to act upon—to govern—their actions and decisions in a responsible and entrepreneurial fashion.

This government takes place through the decisions and behaviour of subjects. For example, an assumption within NA is that 'addicts' cannot experience freedom if they continue to use drugs. According to NA, 'addicts' must practice rigorous self-government and self-discipline in order to experience freedom from using drugs: "Subjects are to do the work on themselves...to make them free" (Rose, 2000: 334). 'Addicts' have the responsibility to make their selves free through self-government and regulation: "Individuals are to be governed through their freedom" (Rose, 1999: 41).

Not only are subjects governed through their freedom, freedom is also conceptualized as a goal for the neoliberal subject: "We have acted upon ourselves, or been acted upon by others, in the wish to be free" (Rose, 1999: 67). Individuals self-govern according to established norms in their culture. The established norms in North American culture are for individuals

to achieve their own health, well-being and happiness. Individuals' lives are considered "lifestyle decisions made by autonomous individual seeking to fulfil themselves and gain personal happiness" (Rose 1999: 86). People are perceived as free to make such decisions and able to achieve the appropriate goals (to be healthy, successful, happy). The assumption is that "they want to be healthy" (Rose, 1999: 86). Likewise, in NA the assumption is that 'addicts' want to 'recover'.

Freedom is represented as an outcome of a successful NA recovery program: "Narcotics Anonymous offers only one promise and that is freedom from active addiction" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 102). Freedom is constructed as a reward in the form of freedom from using drugs, freedom from one's old life, and freedom from old patterns of behaviour and thought: "Before we got clean, most of our actions were guided by impulse. Today, we are not locked into this type of thinking. We are free" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 87). This freedom is to be achieved through practicing the NA program of recovery and it is through working the Twelve Steps and engaging fully in the NA program that "[r]eal freedom is now possible" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 88). In other words: "freedom is both the end of recovery and the means" (Valverde, 1998: 32).

'Addicts' participating in NA are obligated to act upon their selves; to transform their identity into 'recovering addicts' in order to be free. This transformation requires them to act upon their selves continually. They are taught that they must give up their life entirely and immerse their selves in a new way of living to experience freedom and recovery. Those who do not participate in NA are represented as choosing to live unhealthy, unhappy, and as

controlled by their use of substances. The *Text* explains that it is only active participation in the NA program of recovery that leads to the possibility of freedom: "Working the steps and maintaining abstinence give us a daily reprieve from our self-imposed life sentences. We become free to live" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 11). To experience the promised freedom from using drugs, one must practice rigorous self-government. This self-government is represented as one's choice as well as one's gateway to experience freedom. The practices of self-government are informed and regulated by fears of relapsing, fears of harming one's self, and fears of not containing one's will.

According to NA, self-control (control of one's will and behaviours) is necessary to be free. To achieve freedom from using drugs, one is required to restrict a variety of behaviours, interactions with others, and thoughts. These restrictions are believed to be necessary for freedom, happiness, and recovery. Like Emile Durkheim argues, discipline and restraints are necessary to achieve health and happiness, which results from self-control. Such control of one's will is necessary "because it teaches us to restrain and master ourselves, [as] a means of emancipation and of freedom" (Durkheim, 1984: 177).

This relates to the paradoxical relationship between power and freedom in NA discourses.

One is required to admit and accept one's powerlessness in order to empower one's self with the self-control and self-discipline necessary to challenge one's disease of addiction (Weinberg, 2000). In order to experience freedom from using drugs, it is believed that 'addicts' need to engage in beliefs of powerlessness at the same time as engaging in regulatory behaviours.

Now that I have established the neoliberal political rationalities that underlie government in the form of techniques of the self, I will move onto abstinence and confession as examples of government in NA.

Abstinence as Technique of the Self

The fundamental aspect of the NA treatment of recovery is to "maintain abstinence from mind-altering, mood-changing chemicals" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 12). Since NA considers alcohol a drug, abstinence includes all forms of drugs and alcohol (NA Basic Text, 1988: 18), as well as prescription medication (NA Basic Text, 1988: 98-99). This abstinence is described as "the foundation for our new way of life" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 86). The goal of NA is a recovery that extends beyond abstinence, although not using drugs is represented as the foundation for further recovery. Without a cessation of all forms of drug use any recovery is perceived as impossible: "The first thing to do is to stay clean. This makes the other stages of recovery possible" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 81).

The importance of abstinence is evidenced by how it is celebrated and rewarded within NA. The date one begins abstaining from all drugs and becomes a new birthday, which is celebrated throughout one's time in NA. There is a yearly celebration of abstinence where on their new birthday there is a special meeting celebrating their achievement in NA (Valverde & White-Mair, 1999). Abstaining from all substances is central to the creation and maintenance of one's new identity of 'recovering addict'.

Relapse

To achieve abstinence and recovery, the NA program of recovery requires diligent, daily self-regulation, self-discipline, and self-government. Surveillance and government of one's behaviours, thoughts, and relationships is necessary to ensure that one does not ingest any form of mind-altering substances. If a 'recovering addict' fails to participate fully in the NA program, they are seen as at risk for using drugs: "The progression of recovery is a continuous, uphill journey. Without effort we start the downhill run again. The progression of the disease is an ongoing process, even during abstinence" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 79). To engage in abstinence requires daily work, regardless of how long one has maintained abstinence: "Experience shows that those who do not work our program of recovery on a daily basis may relapse" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 75-76).

A relapse occurs when a 'recovering addict' uses drugs or alcohol while practicing abstinence in NA. A relapse can range from one drink or one use of drugs to continual use of alcohol and/or drugs and can range from one minute to the rest of one's life. Relapse is a feared, common experience in NA. It is assumed that people participating in NA will relapse at some point in their recovery: "Because addiction is an incurable disease, addicts are subject to relapse" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 76). This suggests that 'recovering addicts' will forever be prone to relapse. Consequently, the 'addict' subject in NA is one who lives in constant fear. The dangerousness of relapse is emphasized as is the inevitability of relapsing, a combination which creates fear of one's self; the fear that one will use drugs again in the future. 'Recovering addicts' in NA are taught that if they relapse and continue to use substances they will die, live in insanity, and it will be impossible for them to be happy,

responsible, or members of larger society. Thus, 'recovering addicts' are taught to fear the part of their selves that is unmanageable, out of control, insane and compulsive—a fear which provides an impulse to govern one's self.

The *Text* explains that the only way to prevent relapse is to continually and daily abide by the requirements of NA. These requirements include attending meetings, having a sponsor, sponsoring others, working the Twelve Steps, assisting individuals who are new to NA, and carrying out 'service' work (i.e., participating in voluntary NA committees). This maintenance of abstinence requires acting on one's self daily, for the rest of one's life: "Experience shows that those who do not work our program of recovery on a daily basis may relapse" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 75-76).

In the chapter entitled *Recovery and Relapse*, a relapse is not perceived as "a sign of complete failure", but instead as a potentially positive experience because "a relapse may be the jarring experience that brings about a more rigorous application of the program" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 74). However, the *Text* talks about the dangerousness of relapses: "Relapses are often fatal" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 76); "A relapse, if we survive it," (NA Basic Text, 1988: 75)]. Therefore, there is a tension between trying to prevent relapse at great lengths and assuming that most (if not all) 'addicts' participating in NA will relapse at some point.

This tension is also present in the assumption that one's relapse is represented as one's choice. When individuals enter into NA (voluntarily or forcibly) they are taught how the NA

program works. Once individuals have engaged with NA they are perceived as having a choice to not use drugs again: "We are not forced into relapse. We are given a choice. Relapse is never an accident. Relapse is a sign that we have a reservation in our program" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 76). A relapse is seen as an indication that a person is not working one's program in the proper way or not working hard enough at one's recovery. The *Text* explicitly states that it is up to 'addicts' to choose to stop using drugs: "We have seen the program work for any addict who honestly and sincerely wants to stop" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 10). Recovery becomes a measure of one's sincerity, honesty, commitment, and strength of will and character.

This relates to normalizing judgment. As discussed in the previous chapter, objectifying subjects through dividing practices ('addict' versus 'recovering addict') results in normalization. Standards are established and deviations from these standards mark a subject. Therefore, individuals subject their selves by acting in accordance with relevant norms to avoid being marked. Normalization is a technique of power that individualizes subjects through highlighting differences at the same time as it requires individuals to be and act the same (Foucault, 1995).

With normalizing judgment, instead of judging individuals on the basis of right and wrong, judgment depends on where individuals are situated in relation to a norm. The central norm of NA is abstinence, therefore the explanations for relapse in the *Text* revolve around measures of one's character in following and working the NA program. The established norm dictating whether one is an 'addict' or a 'recovering addict' is abstinence. People are required

to conform to and to practice the NA program and are defined as either a 'recovering addict' or an 'addict'.

Therefore, to prevent relapse 'recovering addicts' must diligently follow the NA program of recovery. If they do not, they are blamed for their resulting relapse: "We learn that the program won't work when we try to adapt it to our life. We must learn to adapt our life to the program" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 55). Consequently, the necessary precautions and appropriate self-government must be taken to prevent relapse: "If we begin to avoid our new responsibilities by missing meetings, neglecting Twelfth Step work, or not getting involved, our program stops. These are the kinds of things that lead to relapse" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 76). Consequently, the only way for 'recovering addicts' to prevent relapse is to diligently and actively participate in NA: "We have never seen a person who lives the Narcotics Anonymous Program relapse" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 76).

Abstinence is emphasized as the key to recovery, while relapse is represented as dangerous, to be feared, and to be avoided at any and all costs. In order to prevent relapse individuals in NA are required to engage in techniques of the self. They are required to monitor, regulate and govern all of their behaviours, actions, and thoughts in order to maintain abstinence and experience recovery.

Confession as Technique of the Self

Foucault (1982) argues that pastoral power is a technique of power which originates in Christianity and which has made its way out of its traditional placement in the Christian

church into mainstream society. He characterizes pastoral power as having "meticulous rules of self-examination" and "the process of confession and guidance" (Foucault, 1990: 19). He argues that pastoral power focuses on the individual and "cannot be exercised without knowing the insides of people's minds, without exploring their souls, without making them reveal their innermost secrets" (Foucault, 1982: 783). The goal of pastoral power in its modern forms is to guarantee one's health, well-being, and safety. In this sense, pastoral power, and specifically its method of confession, is a technique of the self that allows individuals to alter both their identity and their subjectivity (from 'addict' to 'recovering addict') by performing specific actions on their bodies, thoughts, and behaviours. Confession requires individuals to reveal their selves to others in order to know their selves; to reveal the 'truth' of their selves (Foucault, 1988). This performance of confession allows individuals to modify their subjectivity to achieve desired goals such as recovery and freedom.

In Christian traditions, confession involves "analytical and continual verbalization of thoughts carried on in the relation to complete obedience to someone else" (Foucault, 1988: 48). In NA, confession involves the same processes yet the required obedience and disclosure is to the NA program itself, other NA members, and to one's Higher Power. The characteristics of confession (a focus on the individual, the requirement to know one's self, and the goal of health and well-being) are present in the NA program of recovery. The Twelve Steps orient individuals to their relationship with their Higher Power and emphasize focusing on one's self.

Confession in NA is referred to as 'sharing'. Sharing involves speaking openly at NA meetings and one-to-one with other 'addicts' about one's feelings, past and present experiences, and how to work the NA program. Honesty in sharing one's feelings, thoughts, behaviours (past and present) with one's self and others is required to experience full recovery as defined by NA: "[W]e have observed some members who remain abstinent for long periods of time whose dishonesty and self-deceit still prevent them from enjoying complete recovery and acceptance within society" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 74). Being dishonest with one's self and with others, and not sharing openly are seen as impeding one's recovery.

This emphasis on knowing one's self and being honest with one's self is also rooted in Christian traditions. According to Foucault, Christianity obliges its followers to know their selves: "Each person has the duty to know who he [sic] is...to acknowledge faults, to recognize temptations, to locate desires, and...to disclose these things either to God or to others in the community" (Foucault, 1988: 40). This tradition is seen within the *Text* in that it emphasizes the necessity for individuals participating in NA to get to know their selves through conducting personal inventories and sharing openly and honestly with other NA members.

Sharing as confessional is persistent throughout the *Text*. The *Text* instructs 'addicts' to confess their past and present feelings, actions, thoughts, and behaviours to one's self (Step Four) and to others, including God (Step Five). This is an ongoing process in that Step Ten requires daily inventories: "We work this step continuously....We monitor our feelings,

emotions, fantasies and actions. By constantly looking at ourselves, we are able to avoid repeating the actions that make us feel bad" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 42). Members of NA are also required to share at meetings, with sponsors and those they sponsor, and with other NA members to maintain their abstinence and to achieve recovery.

Since it is the individual's responsibility to engage with and practice the Twelve Steps, those who do not, or do not work them in a way that is deemed appropriate, are judged.

Normalizing judgments serve to enforce particular neoliberal goals and, therefore not fulfilling such norms and goals is perceived as failing. Hence, sharing as confession is a technique of the self through which 'addicts' in NA govern their selves.

Conclusion

Neoliberal rationalities require the constitution of subjects who act in an entrepreneurial and responsible fashion and who engage in techniques of the self, such as making appropriate decisions in order to achieve the broader goal of health and well-being. The broader objective of these techniques of the self is "to align political, social, and institutional goals with individual pleasures and desires, and with the happiness and fulfilment of the self" (Rose, 1996a: 257).

The NA program of recovery is aligned with neoliberal political rationalities. 'Addicts' in NA are taught to engage in techniques of the self in order to govern their selves according to the Twelve Steps of NA. Abstinence and confession are two such techniques of the self used in NA. Maintaining abstinence, confessing one's past and present wrongs, and continually

working on one's self (to alter one's behaviours and thoughts according to the norms of NA) by the guidance of the NA Twelve Steps in necessary ensure recovery.

Despite the requirement of abstinence from all drugs and alcohol, abstinence is not the only goal of NA: "Recovery as experienced through our Twelve Steps is our goal, not mere physical abstinence" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 75). Insight into what this means resides in Step Twelve (Having had a spiritual awakening as a result of these steps, we tried to carry this message to addicts, and to practice these principles in all our affairs). In the explanation of this step, the *Text* states that "a spiritual awakening takes many different forms...However, all spiritual awakenings have some thing in common. Common elements include an end to loneliness and a sense of direction in our lives" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 48). Also, the shift from actively using drugs to "[l]earning to help others"...through "acting as instruments of our Higher Power" is given as "evidence of spiritual awakening" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 49).

This recovery cannot be achieved by mere abstinence, instead individuals have to actively, daily engage with the various aspects of the NA program. The *Text* instructs 'addicts' that recovery is to be experienced through the Twelve Steps of NA. These steps are to be used in every area of one's life and are to be prioritized: "We have to keep our recovery first and our priorities in order" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 79). NA is a program which requires lifetime membership because it is "a way of life" where one learns "the value of spiritual principles such as surrender, humility and service from reading the N.A. literature, going to meetings and working the steps" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 12).

The NA program of recovery is demanding. Not only is abstinence necessary, but so is adopting an entirely new life; a new identity as a 'recovering addict' that requires daily management. However, the *Text* insists that "[t]here is only one requirement for membership, the desire to stop using" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 9).

Chapter Five:

Where Do We Go From Here?

We do not have to understand this program for it to work. All we have to do is to follow direction (NA Basic Text, 1988: 88)

In this project I have explored the processes by which people become 'addicts' and 'recovering addicts' in NA. Throughout this work I have argued that NA is aligned with the neoliberal goals of individual responsibility and personal entrepreneurship. I have also argued that neoliberal political rationalities are involved in promoting specific forms of individual responsibility and self-government in the construction of 'addict' subjectivities.

I contextualized the emergence of NA within 1960's North American culture with explanations of neoliberalism and histories of AA, NA, and the self-help movement. Within this context, I argued that there have been new methods of government, new conceptions of subjects, and a radicalization of certain liberal political rationalities; those of personal entrepreneurship and individual responsibility.

After presenting the theoretical framework from which I am operating, I discussed the discourses of addiction in the *Text*. I argued that NA is entrenched with understandings of addiction as a disease with consistent symptoms that can only be arrested with abstinence. Using a governmentality approach, I explored the process by which individuals become 'addict' subjects in NA. I highlighted scientific objectification, dividing practices, unifying practices, and self-objectification as four processes through which subjection occurs. I identified the 'addict' and the 'recovering addict' as two types of subjectivities found in NA.

I demonstrated how NA is a technology of the self that requires 'addicts' to transform their selves, through the techniques of the self it institutes, into 'recovering addicts' in order to achieve recovery. This transformation of one's self from an 'addict' into a 'recovering addict' is the goal of NA. Further, I argued that NA is infused with neoliberal political rationalities and instructs individuals to engage in techniques of the self in order to govern their selves according to the Twelve Steps of NA. I used abstinence and confession as two examples of techniques of the self employed in NA.

Yet, the story of the constitution of subjects in NA does not end here.

There are many areas of NA left unexplored. There is space for an analysis of the role and implications of religion in NA, especially the concepts of surrendering of one's will to a Higher Power, and spiritual awakenings. There is a relationship between NA and Protestantism that deserves examination. Most importantly, an analysis of gender and gendered subjectivities in NA is crucial. A woman's experience of addiction may be very different from others experiences. For example, if she has children and/or is pregnant her experiences are not the same as someone without children. There is a substantial body of literature that addresses women's experience with drug use (Boyd, 2001; Measham, 2002; Campbell, 2000; Weir, 1996). However, literature that addresses women's experiences in NA is absent in this literature. Because NA remains the dominant substance treatment program in North America it is crucial that women's experiences in NA be considered.

Additionally, the political and social implications of the NA program of recovery need further exploration. For example, NA's traditions to remain apolitical result in the acceptance of the status quo. Ignoring social contexts (i.e., poverty, what substances one uses, how these substances are used, and rituals of drug use) perpetuates beliefs and policies that hold individuals as solely responsible for their health and well-being. NA is not neutral. It is political, despite its claims to be apolitical:

Do you hate your body or your husband, and yet can't seem to stop eating or putting up with him? Well, never mind the causes of these feelings, or whether they are justified or not. "Here is a set of rules every day for the rest of your life and don't let anyone or anything distract you from them, because they are all that matters and they are the key to your very survival." And it is this message which makes the movement not *apolitical* as it seems, but highly political, in a most reactionary and repressive way (Rapping, 1996: 7).

The contexts in which one lives cannot be ignored. NA's strict focus and requirement of abstinence does not adequately address the complex issue of drug use. Davis and Anderson (1983) argue that the issues involved in the use of drugs and alcohol are complex and variable. Therefore, they advocate for treatment to be modified to account for differing contexts and concerns. They critique AA and NA's disease model approach because it obscures peoples' individual struggles and experiences. In other words, the adoption of the disease model removes individuals from the political and social contexts of their use of substances. This is a limited approach to drug use and treatment. Drug use is a complex and variable issue, which is why Davis and Anderson (1983) attribute the failure of treatment to this decontextualization and segregation of the individual who uses drugs from their social relationships.

My intention is not the elimination of the NA program of recovery. This program works for some people, but not for all. My critiques of this program are with its underlying assumptions of addiction as a disease for which each individual is responsible. I also challenge NA's claims of being "a proven program of recovery" (NA Basic Text, 1988: xv). My objective is to open a dialogue and to come back to the question of why NA remains the dominant treatment program in our society. Other questions provoked by this work are: What are the implications of the monotheistic conception of a 'Higher Power' in NA? What is the relationship between Protestantism and NA? How is the concept of 'powerlessness' understood in NA? and How are gendered subjectivities constituted in NA? This last question is important because of NA's focus on a universal subject that explicitly excludes gender differences of drug use and recovery experiences.

This project has transformed with time and the most drastic change has been the absence of a focus on women. Initially, my objective was to explore the constitution of women's subjectivities in NA. I wanted to do a more complete discussion of gender, but I realized that more baseline work on the constitution of 'addict' subjectivities had to be done before this was possible. It was important to understand how subjects are constituted before an analysis of gender differences in these subjectivities could be undertaken. Additionally, the methodology and object of analysis I chose did not allow for a comprehensive analysis of how gendered subjects are produced in NA. Of course, neoliberal subjects are gendered, but the *Text* is limited in its focus on the commonality between all 'addicts'. To explore gendered subjectivities in NA ethnographic work involving interviews with women in NA is necessary. For these reasons, I made the decision to focus on the constitution of 'addict' subjectivities in

general instead of only an examination of the constitution of women's subjectivities in NA.

This analysis allowed for a more general understanding of how 'addict' subjectivities are constituted in NA as well as an exploration of the implications of these constitutions.

A Final Scenario

Let us suppose that you drink socially and occasionally smoke marijuana. One of your parents becomes ill and you become the primary caregiver for many months. During this time, you began to smoke marijuana daily in the evenings to help you relax and cope with your increased stress. Does this use of marijuana make you an addict? If you were injecting heroin or smoking methamphetamines under the same circumstances, would this make you an addict?

NA would respond: "We feel that each individual has to answer the question, 'Am I an addict?" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 7). However, your partner has become concerned and encourages you to attend NA meetings to help you stop. You attend a few meetings and decide that you are not an addict, but when you tell the people at the meetings this, they tell you that you "are still denying [your] addiction" because "[m]ost addicts resist recovery" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 86-87). The other NA members suggest that you continue to come to meetings, in fact they suggest that you attend "[a] meeting a day for at least the first ninety days of recovery" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 53). You follow this advice because you want to cut back on the amount you are using. With time you realize that you actually are an addict who has the disease of addiction, which you are powerless over and that is making your life unmanageable.

You are told that the NA program of recovery is the only way to handle your use of substances and that to achieve recovery it is crucial to "maintain abstinence from mindaltering, mood-changing chemicals" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 12). This includes alcohol and prescription medication, even though you do not believe that you have a problem with alcohol. You are taught that if you drink alcohol or use any substance you are putting yourself in great danger because you are "in the grip of a continuous and progressive illness whose ends are always the same: jails, institutions and death" (NA Basic Text, 1988: 3). If you do relapse, you have to start the NA program and its steps over from the beginning and announce to people at the next meeting you attend that you have relapsed.

Your goal is to achieve recovery and a new identity as a clean, recovering addict by participating in the NA program. This participation includes following and living the Twelve Steps daily, getting and being a sponsor, attending meetings at least once a week, and doing service work such as holding a voluntary position as treasurer in your NA group. If you do not want to participate in NA and work the Twelve Steps you are told that you are irresponsible (NA Basic Text, 1988: 13), fearful (NA Basic Text, 1988: 15), and lacking in humility (NA Basic Text, 1988: 35), and willingness (NA Basic Text, 1988: 33).

The question I want to leave you with is: Whether you identify as an addict or not, would you be able to never use any mind-altering substances, including alcohol and prescription medication, for the rest of your life? If not, does this make you an addict?

WORKS CITED

- Alcoholics Anonymous: The Story of How Many Thousands of Men and Women Have

 Recovered From Alcoholism. Third ed. New York: Alcoholics Anonymous World

 Services, 1976.
- "Courtney Love Pleads Guilty, Going to Rehab." http://www.ctv.ca/servlet/ArticleNews/story/CTVNews/1085538414477_20/?hub=E
 http://www.ctv.ca/servlet/ArticleNews/story/CTVNews/1085538414477_20/?hub=E
- "Foundation Documents: The Twelve Steps of Co-Dependents Anonymous." <u>Co-Dependents</u>

 <u>Anonymous</u>. 1998. Accessed from the World Wide Web February 7, 2004.

 http://www.coda.org/coda12st.html
- "Historical Data: The Birth of A.A. and its growth in U.S/Canada." <u>Alcoholics Anonymous</u>.

 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web January 26, 2004.

 http://www.alcoholics-anonymous.org/default/en_about_aa_sub.cfm?subpageid=27&pageid=24
- "Information about NA." <u>Narcotics Anonymous</u>. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web January 28, 2004. http://www.na.org/basic.htm#top
- "Learning Acceptance Brings Peace." <u>Co-Dependents Anonymous</u>. Accessed from the World Wide Web February 7, 2004.
 - http://www.coda.org/connect/2002/learning_acceptance_brings_peace.htm
- "Love to Spend 18 Months in Rehab." BBC News World. 2004. Accessed from the World

- Wide Web August 2, 2004.
 http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/entertainment/music/3932115.stm
- "NA Basic Text History (short)." Accessed from the World Wide Web

 January 24, 2004. http://www.geocities.com/wildbill1979/shorthistory.html
- "Narcotics Anonymous." 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web October 21, 2004. www.na.org
- Narcotics Anonymous Basic Text. 1982. Fifth ed. Van Nuys, CA: World Service Office, 1988.
- "Structure of A.A. General Services in U.S/Canada." <u>Alcoholics Anonymous</u>. 2004.

 Accessed from the World Wide Web January 26, 2004. http://www.alcoholics-anonymous.org/default/en_about_aa_sub.cfm?subpageid=16&pageid=24
- Alexander, Bruce K. <u>Peaceful Measures: Canada's Way Out of the 'War on Drugs'.</u> Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1990.
- ---. "The Disease and Adaptive Models of Addiction : A Framework Evaluation." <u>Visions of Addiction: Major Contemporary Perspectives on Addiction and Alcoholism.</u> Ed.

 Stanton Peele. Lexington: Lexington Books, 1988. 45-66.
- Armon-Jones, Claire. "The Thesis of Constructionism." <u>The Social Construction of Emotions.</u>

 Ed. Rom Harré. Oxford: Blackwell, 1988. 32-56.
- Baldassarre, Angela. "Colin Farrell in Hot Water over Drug Comment." Sympatico/MSN
 Entertainment. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web November 1, 2004.

- http://entertainment.sympatico.msn.ca/Celebs/Gossip/Articles/Colin+Farrell+in+hot +water+over+drug+comment.htm>
- Beck, Ulrich. Risk Society: Towards a New Modernity. London: Sage, 1992.
- Boyd, Susan. "Feminist Research on Mothers and Illegal Drugs." Resources for Feminist Research 28.3/4 (2001): 113-30.
- Brown, Gillian, and George Yule. <u>Discourse Analysis.</u> Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1983.
- Brown, R. H. "Textuality and the Postmodern Turn in Sociological Theory." New American

 Cultural Sociology. Ed. Philip Smith. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998.

 19-28.
- Butler, Judith. "Imitation and Gender Insubordination." <u>The New Social Theory Reader</u>. Eds. Steven Siedman and Jeffrey Alexander. New York: Routledge, 2001. 333-45.
- ---. Gender Trouble: Feminism and the Subversion of Identity. New York: Routledge, 1990.
- Butters, Jennifer, and Patricia Erickson. "Addictions As Deviant Behavior: Normalizing the Pleasures of Intoxication." New Perspectives on Deviance: The Construction of Deviance in Everyday Life. Ed. Lori G. Beaman. Toronto: Prentice Hall Allyn and Bacon, 2000. 67-84.
- Campbell, Nancy D. <u>Using Women: Gender, Drug Policy, and Social Justice.</u> New York: Routledge, 2000.
- Castel, Robert. "From Dangerousness to Risk." The Foucault Effect: Studies in

- Governmentality. With Two Lectures by and an Interview With Michel Foucault. Eds. Graham Burchell, Colin Gordon, and Peter Miller. Chicago: Chicago University Press, 1991. 281-98.
- Chan, Wendy and George S. Rigakos. "Risk, Crime and Gender." <u>British Journal of Criminology</u> 42 (2002): 743-761.
- Chimombo, Moira, and Robert L. Roseberry. <u>The Power of Discourse: An Introduction to Discourse Analysis.</u> Mahwah, NJ: L. Erlbaum Associates, 1998.
- Clark, Walter Houston. <u>The Oxford Group: Its History and Significance</u>. New York: Bookman Associates, 1951.
- Crawford, Robert. "The Boundaries of the Self and the Unhealthy Other: Reflections on Health, Culture and AIDS." <u>Social Science and Medicine</u> 38.10 (1994): 1347-65.
- Cruikshank, Barbara. "The Will to Empower: Technologies of Citizenship and the War on Poverty." Socialist Review 23.4 (1994): 29-55.
- Davis, Nanette J., and Bo Anderson. Social Control: The Production of Deviance in the Modern State. New York: Irvington, 1983.
- de Courville Nicol, Valérie. "La Production De L'«Homme» Moderne Ou Le Passage De La Peur à L'Intérieur." <u>Sociologie Et Sociétés</u> 34.1 (2002): 175-97.
- Dean, Mitchell. "A Social Structure of Many Souls: Moral Regulation, Government, and Self-Formation." <u>Canadian Journal of Criminology</u> 19.2 (1994): 145-68.
- Durkheim, Emile. The Division of Labor in Society. New York: Free Press, 1984.

- Erickson, Patricia G., Butters, Jennifer, McGillicuddy, Patti and Ase Hallgren. "Crack and Prostitution: Gender, Myths, and Experiences." <u>Journal of Drug Issues</u> 30.4 (2000): 767-89.
- Ewald, François. "Insurance and Risk." <u>The Foucault Effect: Studies in Governmentality.</u>

 <u>With Two Lectures by and an Interview With Michel Foucault.</u> Eds. Graham Burchell,
 Colin Gordon, and Peter Miller. Chicago: Chicago University Press, 1991. 197-210.
- Flax, Jane. "Postmodernism and Gender Relations in Feminist Theory."

 Feminism/Postmoderism. Ed. Linda J. Nicholson. New York: Routledge, 1990. 39-62.
- Foucault, Michel. <u>Discipline & Punish: The Birth of the Prison</u>. Translator Alan Sheridan. 2nd ed. New York: Vintage, 1995.
- ---. "Governmentality." <u>The Foucault Effect: Studies in Governmentality: With Two Lectures</u>

 <u>by and an Interview With Michel Foucault.</u> Eds. Graham Burchell, Colin Gordon, and

 Peter Miller. Chicago: Chicago University Press, 1991. 87-105.
- ---. The History of Sexuality: Volume 1 An Introduction. 1978. Vintage Books Edition ed. Vol. 1. New York: Vintage Books, 1990.
- ---. "Technologies of the Self." <u>Technologies of the Self: A Seminar With Michel Foucault.</u>
 eds. Luther H. Martin, Huck Gutman, and Patrick H. Hutton. Amherst: The
 University of Massachusetts Press, 1988. 16-49.
- ---. "The Subject and Power." Critical Inquiry 8 (1982): 777-95.
- Gellman, Irving Peter. The Sober Alcoholic: An Organizational Analysis of Alcoholics

- Anonymous. New Haven: New Haven College and University Press, 1964.
- Georgakopoulou, Alexandra, and Dionysis Goutsos. <u>Discourse Analysis: An Introduction.</u>
 Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press, 1997.
- Gordon, Colin. "Governmental Rationality: An Introduction." <u>The Foucault Effect: Studies in Governmentality. With Two Lectures by and an Interview With Michel Foucault.</u> Eds. Graham Burchell, Colin Gordon, and Peter Miller. Chicago: Chicago University Press, 1991. 1-51.
- Greco, Monica. "Psychosomatic Subjects and the 'Duty to Be Well': Personal Agency Within Medical Rationality." <u>Economy and Society</u> 22.3 (1993): 357-72.
- Grosz, Elizabeth. "Contemporary Theories of Power and Subjectivity." <u>Feminist Knowledge</u>, <u>Critique and Construct</u>. Ed. Sneja Gunew. New York: Routledge, 1990. 59-115.
- Hall, Stuart. <u>Representation, Cultural Representations and Signifying Practices</u>. London: Sage, 1997.
- Humphries, Drew. <u>Crack Mothers: Pregnancy, Drugs, and the Media</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State University Press, 1999.
- Kandall, Stephen R. <u>Substance and Shadow: Women and Addiction in the United States</u>.

 Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1996.
- Kaufman, Gil. "Courtney Love Fighting for Custody of Daughter Frances Bean." <u>VH1.com</u>.

 2003. Accessed from the World Wide Web May 31, 2004.

 http://www.vh1.com/news/articles/1479849/10212003/love courtney.jhtml>

- Lupton, Deborah. Risk. New York: Routledge, 1999.
- MacGregor, Susan. "Welfare, Neo-Liberalism and New Paternalism: Three Ways for Social Policy in Late Capitalist Societies." <u>Capital & Class</u> 67 (1999): 91-118.
- Martin, Biddy. "Feminism, Criticism, and Foucault." <u>Feminism and Foucault: Reflections on Resistance.</u> Eds. Irene Diamond and Lee Quinby. Boston: Northeastern University Press, 1988. 3-19.
- McLaren, Margaret A. <u>Feminism</u>, <u>Foucault</u>, and <u>Embodied Subjectivity</u>. New York: State University of New York Press, 2002.
- Measham, Fiona. ""Doing Gender"--"Doing Drugs": Conceptualizing the Gendering of Drugs Cultures." <u>Contemporary Drug Problems</u> 29.2 (2002): 335-73.
- Navarro, Vicente. <u>The Political Economy of Social Inequalities: Consequences for Health</u> and Quality of Life. New York: Baywood Publishing, 2002.
- Nettleton, Sarah. "Governing the Risky Self: How to Become Healthy, Wealthy and Wise."

 <u>Foucault, Health and Medicine.</u> Eds. Alan Peterson and Robin Buton. New York:

 Routledge, 1997. 207-22.
- Peele, Stanton. <u>Diseasing of America: Addiction Treatment out of Control</u>. Massachusetts: Lexington Books, 1989.
- Petersen, Alan. "Risk, Governance and the New Public Health." <u>Foucault: Health and Medicine</u>. Eds. Alan Peterson and Robin Bunton. New York: Routledge, 1997. 189-206.

- Pfohl, Stephen. <u>Images of Deviance and Social Control: A Sociological History.</u> 2nd ed. New York: McGraw -Hill, 1994.
- Purvis, Trevor, and Alan Hunt. "Discourse, Ideology, Discourse, Ideology..." <u>British Journal of Sociology</u> 44.3 (1993): 473-99.
- Rapping, Elayne. <u>The Culture of Recovery: Making Sense of the Self-Help Movement in Women's Lives</u>. London: Beacon Press, 1996.
- Reynolds, Noel B. and W. Cole Durhan, Jr., eds. <u>Religious Liberty in Western Thought.</u>
 Atlanta: Scholars Press for Emory University, 1996.
- Rimke, Heidi Marie. "Governing Citizens Through Self-Help Literature." <u>Cultural Studies</u> 14.1 (2000): 61-78.
- Robertson, Ann. "Biotechnology, Political Rationality and Discourses on Health Risk."

 <u>Health</u> 5.3 (2001): 293-309.
- Rose, Nikolas. "Government and Control." British Journal of Criminology 40 (2000): 321-39.
- ---. <u>Powers of Freedom: Reframing Political Thought.</u> Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1999.
- ---. "Governing "Advanced" Liberal Democracies." <u>Foucault and Political Reason:</u>
 <u>Liberalism, Neo-Liberalism and Rationalities of Government.</u> Eds. Andrew Barry,

 Thomas Osbourne, and Nikolas Rose. Chicago: Chicago University Press, 1996a. 37-64.
- ---. Inventing Our Selves: Psychology, Power, and Personhood. Cambridge: Cambridge

- University Press, 1996b.
- ---. "Government, Authority and Expertise in Advanced Liberalism." <u>Economy and Society</u> 22.3 (1993): 283-99.
- ---. Governing the Soul: The Shaping of the Private Self. London: Routledge, 1989.
- Rose, Nikolas and Peter Miller. "Political Power Beyond the State: Problematics of Government." <u>British Journal of Sociology</u> 43.2 (1992): 173-205.
- Sawicki, Jana. "Foucault, Feminism and Questions of Identity." <u>The Cambridge Companion</u> to Foucault. Ed. Gary Gutting. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1994. 286-313.
- Schiffrin, Deborah. Approaches to Discourse. Oxford: Blackwell, 1994.
- Stares, Paul B. <u>Global Habit: The Drug Problem in a Borderless World</u>. Washington DC: Brookings Institution, 1996.
- Starker, Steven. <u>Oracle at the Supermarket: The American Preoccupation with Self-Help</u>

 <u>Books.</u> Transaction Publishers: New Brunswick, USA, 1989.
- The Layman With a Notebook. What Is the Oxford Group? 1933: Oxford University Press, London, 1936.
- Treanor, Paul. Neoliberalism: Origins, Theory, Definition. 2004. Accessed from the World Wide Web April 6, 2004.
 - http://web.inter.nl.net/users/Paul.Treanor/neoliberalism.html

- Valverde, Mariana. <u>Diseases of the Will: Alcohol and the Dilemmas of Freedom.</u> Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- Valverde, Mariana, and Kimberley White-Mair. "'One Day at a Time' and Other Slogans for Everyday Life: The Ethical Practices of Alcoholics Anonymous." <u>Sociology</u> 33.2 (1999): 393-410.
- Vineyard, Jennifer. "Courtney Love Pleads Guilty to Disorderly Conduct." <u>MTV News</u>. 2004.

 Accessed from the World Wide Web October 26, 2004.

 http://www.mtv.com/news/articles/1492837/20041020/story.jhtml
- Ward, Steven. "Filling the World With Self-Esteem: A Social History of Truth-Making."

 <u>Canadian Journal of Sociology</u> 21.1 (1996): 1-23.
- Warsh, Cheryl Krasnick. "'John Barleycorn Must Die': An Introduction to the Social History of Alcohol." <u>Drink in Canada: Historical Essays</u>. Ed. Cheryl Krasnick Warsh.

 Montreal, QC & Kingston, ON: McGill-Queen's University Press, 1993. 3-26.
- Weber, Max. "Class, Status, Party." From Max Weber: Essays in Sociology. Translators and eds. H. H. Gerth and C. Wright Mills. New York: Oxford University Press, 1958.

 180-95.
- Weinberg, Darin. "'Out There': The Ecology of Addiction in Drug Abuse Treatment Discourse." <u>Social Problems</u> 47.4 (2000): 606-21.
- Weir, Lorna. "Recent Developments in the Government of Pregnancy." <u>Economy and Society</u> 25.3 (1996): 372-92.

Appendix A: The Twelve Steps of Alcoholics Anonymous

- 1. We admitted we were powerless of alcohol—that our lives had become unmanageable.
- 2. Came to believe that a Power greater than ourselves could restore us to sanity.
- 3. Made a decision to turn our will and our lives over the care of God as we understood Him.
- 4. Made a searching and fearless moral inventory of ourselves.
- 5. Admitted to God, to ourselves, and to another human being the exact nature of our wrongs.
- 6. Were entirely ready to have God remove all these defects of character.
- 7. Humbly asked Him to remove our shortcomings.
- 8. Made a list of all persons we had harmed, and became willing to make amends to them all.
- 9. Made direct amends to such people wherever possible, except when to do so would injure them or others.
- 10. Continued to take personal inventory and when we were wrong promptly admitted it.
- 11. Sought through prayer and meditation to improve our conscience contact with God as we understood Him, praying only for knowledge of His will for us and the power to carry that out.
- 12. Having had a spiritual awakening as the result of these steps, we tried to carry this message to alcoholics, and to practice these principles in all our affairs.

Appendix B: The Twelve Traditions of Alcoholics Anonymous

- 1. Our common welfare should come first; personal recovery depends upon A.A. unity.
- 2. For our group purpose there is but one ultimate authority—a loving God as He may express Himself in our group conscience. Our leaders are but trusted servants; they do not govern.
- 3. The only requirement for A.A. membership is a desire to stop drinking.
- 4. Each group should be autonomous except in matters affecting other groups or A.A. as a whole.
- 5. Each group has but one primary purpose—to carry its message to the alcoholic who still suffers.
- 6. An A.A. group ought never endorse, finance, or lend the A.A. name to any related facility or outside enterprise, lest problems of money, property or prestige divert us from our primary purpose.
- 7. Every A.A. group ought to be fully self-supporting, declining outside contributions.
- 8. Alcoholics Anonymous should remain forever nonprofessional, but our service centers may employ special workers.
- 9. A.A., as such, ought never be organized; but we may create service boards or committees directly responsible to those they serve.
- 10. Alcoholics Anonymous has no opinion on outside issues; hence the A.A. name ought never be drawn into public controversy.
- 11. Our public relations policy is based on attraction rather than promotion; we need always maintain personal anonymity at the level of press, radio, and films.

12. Anonymity is the spiritual foundation of all our Traditions, ever reminding us to place
principles before personalities.
•

Appendix C: The Twelve Steps of Narcotics Anonymous

- 1. We admitted that we were powerless over our addiction, that our lives had become unmanageable
- 2. We came to believe that a Power greater than ourselves could restore us to sanity.
- 3. We made a decision to turn our will and our lives over to the care of God as we understood Him.
- 4. We made a searching and fearless moral inventory of ourselves.
- 5. We admitted to God, to ourselves, and to another human being the exact nature of our wrongs.
- 6. We were entirely ready to have God remove all these defects of character.
- 7. We humbly asked Him to remove our shortcomings.
- 8. We made a list of all persons we had harmed, and became willing to make amends to them all.
- 9. We made direct amends to such people wherever possible, except when to do so would injure them or others.
- 10. We continued to take personal inventory and when we were wrong promptly admitted it.
- 11. We sought through prayer and meditation to improve our conscious contact with God as we understood Him, praying only for knowledge of His will for us and the power to carry that out.
- 12. Having had a spiritual awakening as a result of these steps, we tried to carry this message to addicts, and to practice these principles in all our affairs.

Appendix D: The Twelve Traditions of Narcotics Anonymous

- 1. Our common welfare should come first; personal recovery depends on N.A. unity.
- For our group purpose there is but one ultimate authority—a loving God as He may
 express Himself in our group conscience. Our leaders are but trusted servants; they do not
 govern.
- 3. The only requirement for membership is a desire to stop using.
- 4. Each group should be autonomous except in matters affecting other groups or N.A. as a whole.
- 5. Each group has but one primary purpose—to carry the message to the addict who still suffers.
- 6. An N.A. group ought never endorse, finance, or lend the N.A. name to any related facility or outside enterprise, lest problems of money, property or prestige divert us from our primary purpose.
- 7. Every N.A. group ought to be fully self-supporting, declining outside contributions.
- 8. Narcotics Anonymous should remain forever nonprofessional, but our service centers may employ special workers.
- 9. N.A., as such, ought never be organized, but we may create service boards or committees directly responsible to those they serve.
- 10. Narcotics Anonymous has no opinion on outside issues; hence the N.A. name ought never be drawn into public controversy.
- 11. Our public relations policy is based on attraction rather than promotion; we need always maintain personal anonymity at the level of press, radio, and films.

12. Anonymity is the spiritual found	lation of all our Traditions, ever reminding us to place
principles before personalities.	